
      
WOR K SESSION  AGEN D A      

 
C ITY C OU N C IL WOR K SESSION     
TU ESD AY 
SEPTEMBER  23, 2025
 

 C OU N C IL C H AMBER S      
211 WEST ASPEN  AVEN U E  

             3 :00 P .M. 
 

All City Council Meetings are live streamed on the city's YouTube page
(https://www.youtube.com/@FlagstaffCityGovernment)  

***PUBLIC COMMENT***  

Verbal public comments not related to items appearing on the posted agenda may be provided during the
"Open Call to the Public" at the beginning and end of the meeting and may only be provided in person.

Verbal public comments related to items appearing on the posted agenda may be given in person or online
and will be taken at the time the item is discussed.

 To provide online verbal comment on an item that appears on the posted agenda, use the link below.   

ONLINE VERBAL PUBLIC COMMENT  

Written comments may be submitted to publiccomment@flagstaffaz.gov. All comments submitted via email
will be considered written comments and will be documented in the record as such.

      
1. Call to Order

NOTICE OF OPTION TO RECESS INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION
 
Pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.02, notice is hereby given to the members of the City Council and to the
general public that, at this work session, the City Council may vote to go into executive session,
which will not be open to the public, for discussion and consultation with the City's attorneys for legal
advice on any item listed on the following agenda, pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.03(A)(3).

 

2. Roll Call
 
NOTE: One or more Councilmembers may be in attendance through other technological means.
 
MAYOR DAGGETT
VICE MAYOR SWEET
COUNCILMEMBER ASLAN
COUNCILMEMBER GARCIA

COUNCILMEMBER HOUSE
COUNCILMEMBER MATTHEWS
COUNCILMEMBER SPENCE

 

3. Pledge of Allegiance, Mission Statement, and Land Acknowledgement
 

MISSION STATEMENT 
 

The mission of the City of Flagstaff is to protect and enhance the quality of life for all.

LAND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 
 

The Flagstaff City Council humbly acknowledges the ancestral homelands of this area's Indigenous
nations and original stewards. These lands, still inhabited by Native descendants, border mountains
sacred to Indigenous peoples. We honor them, their legacies, their traditions, and their continued
contributions. We celebrate their past, present, and future generations who will forever know this
place as home.

 

https://www.youtube.com/@FlagstaffCityGovernment
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_OGU5OTBmZTUtMzZhMS00Zjk4LWI1NjItMjgxMWMwYmE3NmMy%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%225da727b9-fb88-48b4-aa07-2a40088a046d%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22092ff328-7f9a-4a81-ae2d-fba9ff4ca8ad%22%7d
mailto:publiccomment@flagstaffaz.gov


4. Open Call to the Public

Open Call to the Public enables the public to address the Council about an item that is not on the
prepared agenda. Comments relating to items that are on the agenda will be taken at the time that
the item is discussed. Open Call to the Public appears on the agenda twice, at the beginning and at
the end. The total time allotted for the first Open Call to the Public is 30 minutes; any additional
comments will be held until the second Open Call to the Public.

If you wish to address the Council in person at today's meeting, please complete a comment card
and submit it to the recording clerk as soon as possible. Your name will be called when it is your turn
to speak. You may address the Council up to three times throughout the meeting, including
comments made during Open Call to the Public and Public Comment. Please limit your remarks to
three minutes per item to allow everyone an opportunity to speak. At the discretion of the Chair, ten
or more persons present at the meeting and wishing to speak may appoint a representative who
may have no more than fifteen minutes to speak.

 

5. PROCLAMATIONS 
 

A. Proclamation: Suicide Prevention Awareness Month
 

 Read and present the Proclamation.
 

B. Proclamation: Recovery Month
 

 Read and present the Proclamation
 

6. September Work Anniversaries
 

 Recognition of employees celebrating work anniversaries in September.
 

7. City Manager Report
 

 Information only
 

8. 2024-2025 Annual Report for the 10-Year Housing Plan
 

 This is an informational update only.
 

9. John Wesley Powell Project Update
 

 Staff will provide an update on the status of the John Wesley Powell Project
 

10. Discussion of Amended Agreement regarding reclaimed water for Pine Canyon
 

 Informational only - This is an opportunity to give details on the amended Reclaimed Water
Agreement with Pine Canyon Golf LLC to provide transparency to City Council and the public.

 

11. Discussion regarding the continued release of reclaimed water into the Rio de Flag for
the enhancement of wildlife habitat, consistent with the Bow and Arrow Park Agreement,
subject to general availability and advanced water purification technologies.
 

 Discussion of Resolution 2025-51 to be considered at the October 7, 2025 Council Meeting to
continue release of reclaimed water consistent with the Bow and Arrow Park Agreement. 

 

12. Open Call to the Public



 
13. Informational Items To/From Mayor, Council, and City Manager; future agenda item

requests
 

14. Adjournment
 

CERTIFICATE OF POSTING OF NOTICE

The undersigned hereby certifies that a copy of the foregoing notice was duly posted at Flagstaff City Hall
on ________________, at ________ a.m./p.m. in accordance with the statement filed by the City Council with the City
Clerk.

Dated this ________ day of ________________________, 2025.

__________________________________________
Stacy Saltzburg, MMC, City Clerk
                                            

THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF ENDEAVORS TO MAKE ALL PUBLIC MEETINGS ACCESSIBLE TO PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES. With 48-hour advance notice, reasonable accommodations
will be made upon request for persons with disabilities or non-English speaking residents. Please call the City Clerk (928) 213-2076 or email at stacy.saltzburg@flagstaffaz.gov to request an
accommodation to participate in this public meeting. 

NOTICE TO PARENTS AND LEGAL GUARDIANS: Parents and legal guardians have the right to consent before the City of Flagstaff makes a video or voice recording of a minor child,
pursuant to A.R.S. § 1-602(A)(9). The Flagstaff City Council meetings are live-streamed and recorded and may be viewed on the City of Flagstaff's website. If you permit your child to
attend/participate in a televised Council meeting, a recording will be made. You may exercise your right not to consent by not allowing your child to attend/participate in the meeting.



  5. A.             

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To: The Honorable Mayor and Council
From: Jessica Matias, Chief of Staff
Date: 09/15/2025
Meeting Date: 09/23/2025

TITLE:
Proclamation: Suicide Prevention Awareness Month
 

DESIRED OUTCOME:
Read and present the Proclamation.

Executive Summary:
N/A

Information:
N/A

Attachments: Proclamation



 

City of Flagstaff – Office of the Mayor 

 

WHEREAS, the month of September is recognized as National Suicide Prevention 

Month to raise awareness, spread hope, and spark meaningful action to ensure that 

all people can talk openly about suicide prevention and have access to help and 

support resources; and 
 

WHEREAS, suicide is a major public health issue that requires vigilant 
attention and preventative action. The Arizona Public Health Association 
recorded at least 1,082 deaths by suicide in Arizona in 2024 and suicide was 
listed as the ninth leading cause of death in the state; and 
 

WHEREAS, the 988 Suicide and Crisis Lifeline and other local and national 
programs provide immediate, life-saving support to people facing their darkest 
moments; and 

 

WHEREAS, as a community that cares, we can join together to foster hope, 

resilience, and community wellness, empower all members of our community with 

knowledge and support, and remind every person that help is available, healing is 

possible, and no one is alone. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, I, Mayor Becky Daggett, Mayor of the City of Flagstaff, 

Arizona do hereby proclaim the month of September 2025 as 

 

Suicide Prevention 

Month 
 

Dated this 23rd day of September 2025  

 

 

_______________________________________ 

   MAYOR  

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

_______________________________________ 

         CITY CLERK         

 



  5. B.             

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To: The Honorable Mayor and Council
From: Jessica Matias, Chief of Staff
Date: 09/15/2025
Meeting Date: 09/23/2025

TITLE:
Proclamation: Recovery Month
 

DESIRED OUTCOME:
Read and present the Proclamation

Executive Summary:
N/A

Information:
N/A

Attachments: Proclamation



 

City of Flagstaff – Office of the Mayor 

 
WHEREAS, recovery from mental health, substance use, and co-occurring conditions is an 

essential part of health and one’s overall wellness; and 
 

WHEREAS, recovery supports for mental health and substance use conditions and co-
occurring conditions are effective, and people can and do recover in our area and around the 
nation; and 
 

WHEREAS, addressing and overcoming mental health, substance use, and co-occurring 
conditions is essential to achieving holistic health; and 

 

WHEREAS, to help more people with lived experience achieve and sustain recovery, the U.S. 

Department of Health and Human Services and Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services 

Administration recognize every September as National Recovery Month to promote and support 

new evidence-based treatment and recovery practices, recognize the nation’s strong and proud 

recovery community, and honor the dedication of service providers and communities who make 

recovery possible. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Mayor Becky Daggett, Mayor of the City of Flagstaff, Arizona do 

hereby proclaim the month of September 2025 as 

 

Recovery month 
 

in the City of Flagstaff, and call upon the people of Flagstaff to observe this month with 

appropriate programs, activities, and ceremonies to support this year’s Recovery Month theme, 

Recovery is REAL—Restoring Every Aspect of Life—and focus on the four major dimensions 

of recovery—health, home, community, and purpose—as the building blocks that all people need 

to live healthy, happy, and independent lives. 

 

Dated this 23rd day of September 2025 

 

 

_______________________________________ 

   MAYOR  

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

_______________________________________ 

         CITY CLERK         

 



  6.             

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To: The Honorable Mayor and Council
From: Georganna Staskey, Deputy City Clerk
Date: 09/16/2025
Meeting Date: 09/23/2025

TITLE:
September Work Anniversaries
 

DESIRED OUTCOME:
Recognition of employees celebrating work anniversaries in September.

Executive Summary:

Information:

Attachments: Presentation



September Work 
Anniversaries



1st Year Anniversaries
Abbey Buckham- Library Supervisor

Alexis Fowler- Head Lifeguard

Amal Lana- Recreation Instructor II

Avery Edenhofer – Police Emergency Communications Specialist

Bradley Stricker- Recreation Instructor II

Carlos Villalobos- Water Operator I

Christopher Suckell- Lifeguard

Devin Todd- Parks Maintenance Worker

Emily Fendya- Library Specialist

 Jackson Hodsden – Recreation Coordinator II

 Jacob Strass- Streets Operations Tech II

 Jennifer Stasinopoulos – Deputy Library Director

 Jeremiah Magana- Streets Operations Tech I

Kimberly Hoskie – Library Clerk

Linda Alvarado – Sr. Administrative Specialist

LuSandra Cedillo – City Records Coordinator

Megan Ostrowski - Lifeguard

Nathaniel See – IT Help Desk Supervisor

Noah Baker – Sustainability Specialist

Rebekah Wilce – Librarian

Ryan Smalley – Customer Service Representative I

Sam Wiley – Sustainability Specialist

Samuel Stone – Court Judicial Specialist I

Sheila Ryan – HR Manager

Sophia Fabian – Police Officer

Thomas McKenna – Park Ranger



Daniel Carrick
Recreation Supervisor

10th Year Anniversary



10th Year Anniversary

Lauran Mc Millan
Library Clerk Temp



25th Year Anniversary Sarah Darr
Housing Director

Today, we proudly celebrate Sarah’s 25 years of 

dedicated service to the City of Flagstaff. Born and 

raised in this community, Sarah has devoted her 

career to making a lasting difference in the place she 

calls home. As Housing Director, she has brought 

vision, compassion, and determination to one of the 

city’s most pressing challenges—affordable housing. 

Her passion for ensuring that Flagstaff families have 

access to safe, stable, and affordable homes has 

guided her leadership and inspired those around her. 

Sarah’s commitment reflects not only her professional 

excellence but also her deep care for her neighbors 

and her city. We are grateful for her many 

contributions as we celebrate this milestone.



30th Year Anniversary Lawrence Pino
Parks Maintenance Worker

Lawrence Pino began his career with Recreation and 

Athletics where he has created an expertise in 

programming, officiating, field allocation, and then 

with a move to Parks where he has worked diligently 

on keeping park spaces clean and ready for the next 

event.  Lawrence is a Flagstaff local where he 

roamed around town with his family and many 

siblings playing all sports.  Watching sports today is 

one of Lawrence’s pastimes, of which you can count 

on him to provide any details of the previous nights’ 

games including stats!  

PROSE is elated to celebrate the 30th work 

anniversary of Lawrence, and hope that he is 

enjoying some well-earned time off today.  



  7.             

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To: The Honorable Mayor and Council
From: Georganna Staskey, Deputy City Clerk
Date: 09/16/2025
Meeting Date: 09/23/2025

TITLE:
City Manager Report
 

DESIRED OUTCOME:
Information only

Executive Summary:
These reports will be included in the City Council packet for regularly scheduled Work Session meetings. The
reports are intended to be informational, covering miscellaneous events and topics involving the City
organization.

***The report will be provided in advance of the meeting***

Information:

Attachments: City Manager Report
PROSE Updates
EV Newsletter



City Manager’s Report 
Sept 22, 2025 

 
Council and Colleagues, greetings.  These reports are intended to be informational, covering 
miscellaneous events and topics involving the city organization.  During my report at the 
upcoming Council Work Session, you will receive an informational presentation from PROSE.   
Appended to this report is an August newsletter from PROSE and the July newsletter from 
Economic Vitality. 
 
 
Police Updates 
 
On August 27th we attended the promotional ceremony involving a new Sergeant, two new 
Corporals, and support services manager, and dispatch supervisors.  Specifically, the new 
promotions were Corporal Jason Nguyen, Corporal Dave Holland, Sergeant Alex Chirovsky, 
Support Services Manager Kristen Decker, Records Technician Senior Jackie Pluckrose, and 
Records Technician Senior Chris Cordova.  It was a great event, and always an honor to see the 
badging performed and the recognition received.   
 

 



       
Related, on August 21st we attended the High Country Training Academy Graduation for Class 
#6 at the Coconino Community College.  It was very well attended.  Guest speakers included 
Dean Mark Maciha and County Sheriff Gret Axlund, as well as our own Sargent Melissa Seay.   
 
These graduations are always quite meaningful.  The City of Flagstaff continues to be a major 
beneficiary of the classes, seeing its own recruits enter into our work force.  Congrats to all the 
graduates.   
 
Notably, one of the graduates (Morgan Brown) is the son of Jen Brown, Facilities and Fleet 
Section Director! 
 

 
United Way Campaign Kick-Off Luncheon 
Held on August 26th at the High-Country Conference Center, the event was very well attended 
and featured an informative discussion related to Youth Mental Wellbeing.  The Campaign Chair 
this year is Gabe Smith with Kinny Construction Services, Inc.    
 
The City’s campaign has started, with props to Dep City Manager Joanne Keene, City Engineer 
Paul Mood, Planning and Development Services Director Michelle McNulty, Police Chief Sean 



Connolly, Chief of Staff Jess Matias, City Clerk Stacy Saltzburg,.  The target goal for the city is 
$21,500.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Budget Team Retreat 
Our Budget Team retreated for a day and a half on 
August 28th and 29th.  It was a busy agenda.  As we 
prepare for the next budget process, which is now 
upon is in earnest.  We are working with the 
results from an internal survey related to our 
budget process and having great discussions with 
our Leadership Team in this regard, always toward 
an effort of improving.  
 
 
 
 
 



Visitor Center and Grab n Go 
The new facility at the Airport is going well 
and seeing some usage.  Thanks to Economic 
Vitality, Procurement, and Legal, for all the 
assistance. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Annual Employee Barbeque  
The Champions of Team Flagstaff held the annual BBQ event at Thorpe Park.  It was great.  A 
beautiful September day (September 17th) with lots of events, a raffle (for United Way), kickball 
tournament, and dunking tank (also benefitting United Way … and anyone who had the 
privilege to submerse certain individuals who go by the names of Amy Hagin or Dave McIntyre).  
Thanks to the Champions for this great event! 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
It’s a wrap, Council.  Onward and upward …  



Parks Recreation Open
Space & Events 
Parks Recreation Open
Space & Events 

UPDATESUPDATES



PARKS

Playground Upgrades at Mobile Haven & Smokerise Park

PARKS



Equipment Electrification 



Number of Users

Buffa
lo

 A
ZT

Buffa
lo

 P
ark

 Lo
op

Foxg
lenn FUTS

Lo
ne Tre

e C
CC

M
ars

 H
ill

M
cM

illa
n M

esa
 B

rid
ge

Obse
rv

ato
ry

 M
esa

Pict
ure

 C
yn

 E
ntra

nce

Pict
ure

 C
yn

 W
ate

rb
ird

 Site

Route
 66 E

ast

Route
 66 W

est

Sin
cla

ir 
Tra

il
0

20000

40000

60000

80000

100000

120000

TWA Memorial
Past Twelve Months Trail Counts

Number of Users

Buffa
lo

 A
ZT

Buffa
lo

 P
ark

 Lo
op

Foxg
lenn FUTS

Lo
ne Tre

e C
CC

M
ars

 H
ill

M
cM

illa
n M

esa
 B

rid
ge

Obse
rv

ato
ry

 M
esa

Pict
ure

 C
yn

 E
ntra

nce

Pict
ure

 C
yn

 W
ate

rb
ird

 Site

Route
 66 E

ast

Route
 66 W

est

Sin
cla

ir 
Tra

il
0

20000

40000

60000

80000

100000

2025 Year to Date Trail Counts



Touch A Truck Night Court at Hal Jensen

RECREATIONRECREATION



Aquaplex Summer Camp

Build Together Play Together Event



Programming at Joe C. Montoya
Community & Senior Center

Jay Lively Activity Center Programs



OPEN SPACEOPEN SPACE

FUSD Field Trips

Guided Hikes



Educational Booths

Summer Outreach & Partnership
with Recreation Center



EVENTS & ATHLETICSEVENTS & ATHLETICS

4  of July Done ShowTH



Grand Opening of
Cleo Murdoch Park



Marketing Summer Softball 
& Grass Volleyball





 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 

YOUTH SERVICES: 
 

• A few changes have been made to the Youth Programming Schedule. Storytimes will move to 

the beginning of the week, adding Monday and taking away Thursday. The line-up will be 

Bouncing Babies on Monday, Toddler Tales followed by Preschool Express Tuesday & 

Wednesday, and Saturday Story Stop every Saturday. Bards& Nobles will have two biweekly 

campaigns to include more kids. 

• The comment card below was received in response to this year’s summer reading challenge 

programming: 

 

AUGUST 
2025 



 

• The art filled summer reading challenge inspired staff to start a doodling program beginning in 

September and a monthly series called Comic Creation. 

 

 

• Youth Services replaced some worn out furniture with some financial assistance from the 

Friends of the Library. 

 

 

 

REFERENCE: 
 

• A Speed Puzzling Competition was held at the beginning of the month. Twenty-six competitors 

worked in teams of two on identical puzzles to see who could finish the puzzle first. The 

competition was stiff, and there were even a few excited spectators (yes, three people stayed to 

watch people complete puzzles). The champions from the year before prevailed completing 

their puzzle in exactly 59 minutes 58 seconds. Many attendees expressed that they enjoyed the 

communal atmosphere of the event and asked when another competition would be held.  

 

Another event is tentatively planned for November at the East Flagstaff Community Library. 

 
• Meet us at the trailhead On August 16th, thirty-four hikers met at the northern end of Fort 

Valley to learn about and explore Leroux Springs. This area of Fort Valley has a history of visits 

from early western expeditions and surveys, and was noted by Lorenzo Sitgreaves, Amiel 



 

Whipple, and Edward Beale. Antoine Leroux, the springs' namesake, guided the Sitgreaves 

expedition through northern Arizona. On the hike participants visited both springs, the cabin 

built in 1877 to secure water rights to Little Leroux Spring by early Mormon settlers, and the old 

foundations from the buildings used by the Civilian Conservation Corps in the 1930s. This hike 

was led by library staff member Sarah Weatherby, and Forest Service Roving Ranger Karen 

Malis-Clark. Nick Rullman from the library joined the group and acted as the “sweep.” Shannon 

Clark, who took part in the restoration process of Leroux Springs completed in 2013, also joined 

the group and shared insights about the project.  

 
 

PR and Marketing 

 
• September is Library Card Sign-up Month. To 

promote sign-ups the library will be waiving the 

fee for replacement cards during September 

and offering a punch card raffle where 

participants receive a hole punch for getting or 

having a library card, checking out an item, and 

reading it (or listening to or playing or 

otherwise using it).  

• Cards with all punches completed will have a 

chance to win a raffle prize. Additionally, some 

local businesses will be offering discounts, fun 

swag, stickers, or other goodies to people who show their library card. Maps of participating 

businesses will be available at the Downtown and EFCL check-out desks. 

 

County Libraries 
 

Forest Lakes:  

• The Forest Lakes Library 

will now be a drop-off 

location for the community 

'medical closest' for such 

items as crutches, walkers 

etc. 



 

• The concrete has been poured for the new volleyball/basketball/pickleball court behind the 

library. 

 

Grand Canyon Community Library:  

• The first Game Night combined with the community center Game Club went well. It wasn't a 

high attendance program, but some of the new games were played and staff expects to see 

some of the folks who attended return for the next Game Night. A crafts night also had a 

relatively low attendance, but some new people came. Staff is working with the National Parks 

Service public relations staff to get GCCL programs listed in their weekly newsletters. 

• Several new community members used library computers to apply for jobs and found work. 

• A long-time community member wrote an essay for a scholarship application on one of the 

library computers. She was awarded a scholarship and is off to grad school for public policy and 

business administration! She said she was so thankful to have this resource while at the Grand 

Canyon and "thank god for the library!" 

• A lot of folks have been very excited about the new DVDs added recently. A few of them are 

being checked out again as soon as they come back. 

• More local families are stopping into the library regularly to play and check out materials. It's 

become a weekly ritual for some. 

 

Jail Library: 

Library staff has been working hard on finding back issues of various periodicals for the jail. Missing 

copies of Muy Interesante, a popular science Spanish-language magazine based in Madrid, have recently 

 

LIBRARY STATS: 



 

 

TOURISM METRICS:  AUGUST 2025 

Following is a snapshot of the metrics for AUGUST 2025:  

 YOY RevPAR for the Month of August: The total RevPAR drop for August YOY was -5.3%. 

Rationale: On a typical year, international represents about 15% of our overall visitor economy for 
Flagstaff.  International is still down for the country, state of Arizona and for Flagstaff. This, coupled 
with the Dragon Bravo Fire and hotter temperatures 
than normal put a damper on August Visitation. 
Staff is working hard to fill in this gap seen in the 
international markets with our domestic customers 
– both drive-market and fly-drive from medium haul 
origins. Additionally, we have made many efforts - 
paid, earned, and owned - to educate the traveling public that the South Rim is open for business and 
that Flagstaff is not affected by the fire.  



 

Following is a snapshot of the metrics for August 2025: 

Aug 2024 2025 Diff 

OCC 73.7% 72.2% -2% 

ADR $126.73 $122.55 -3.3% 

RevPAR $93.43 $88.51 -5.3% 

 MARKETING: 

 

DIGITAL ADS: 
Encouraging people to take a break and ‘feed their hunger’ while driving along the interstates, we 
geofenced strategic areas and served ads to people traveling north of Sedona on I-17, and those 
traveling I-40 between Ash Fork and Winslow.  With an A/B tested creative strategy including two 
mouth-watering images – a gotta-have-it burger and a cheesy smothered slice of pizza goodness – a 
favorite image reasonated and was then optimized for even more engagement.   The burger drove the 
most stops measured by click-thru rate – burger .32 vs .29 pizza. 

 
 

WEBSITE:  
 
DiscoverFlagstaff.com has been undergoing a shift to adapt content to receive more AI citations.  The 
way AI bots scour and read content is different from the customary search bots.  We are optimizing 
content to ensure visibility and ranking with AI while also remaining relevant for classic search.  
 
Month-over-month AI (Generative Engine Optimization) results: 
- Sessions:  August 314 vs July 285 
- Views:  August 665 vs 554  
 
The following report on year-over-year performance: 
Strongest US interest was from the drive markets, and following stats represent active users: 

• PHX increased 2% to 13,081  

• Los Angeles decreased 2.9% to 2,554  

• Las Vegas decreased -17% to 1,317  



 

• New York increased 30% to 1,213  

• Mesa increased 16% to 929  

• Tucson increased 11%   
 
Page views: 

Top landing pages were Things to Do, events, dining/nightlife/restaurants, plan your trip, 
Route 66, Leafometer.    

 
Additional performances: 

There were 3,989 partner referrals or outbound links to partner sites, 291 VG requests, 43 
newsletter signups.   

 
 

EARNED MEDIA: 
 
Media assists in August: 9. (August 2024: 9)  
Journalists hosted in August: 6 media members on 5 FAMs. (August 2024: 1)  
 
News releases in 2: (August 2024: 0)  
Assisted with ADOT news release on Interstate 17 
Assisted with AOT news release on wildfire messaging  
 
Total articles generated: 203 (per Meltwater, our media tracking software provider).  
(2024: 131, per Cision) 
 
Discover Flagstaff marketing themes supported in coverage: Route 66 was promoted through the story 
that was syndicated through the Associated Press to approximately 78 nationwide publications. Food 
and dining were promoted through two partnerships with influencers to highlight events at Atria and 
Shift Kitchen, and the outdoors was featured in a partnership with an influencer called @SelmaExplores.  

 
HIGHLIGHTS OF MEDIA COVERAGE: 
 
Scottish Sun: Just gorgeous: (Clip not available online but print/online pdfs stored in monthly folder) 
DF hosted the journalist in May. Story referenced Embassy Suites, Historic Brewing, proximity to Grand 
Canyon and snowfall we had in May in contrast to the heat of the desert cities he also visited.  
 
Seattle Times (syndicated through Associated Press to 78 additional publications including Florida, 
Athens, Ga., Wyoming, Indiana, El Paso, etc.): This road trip comes with a built-in art crawl.  
https://www.seattletimes.com/life/food-drink/the-road-trip-that-comes-with-a-built-in-art-crawl/  
DF hosted the journalist, who is crafting 11 stories about Rte. 66. This story about murals in the eight 
states along the highway used main art from Flagstaff that we provided.    
 
FOX10: Made in Arizona feature on Chocolita.  
https://www.fox10phoenix.com/video/1690907 
DF coordinated with Flutter Public Relations to schedule this feature on a local business.  
 
 

https://www.seattletimes.com/life/food-drink/the-road-trip-that-comes-with-a-built-in-art-crawl/
https://www.fox10phoenix.com/video/1690907


 

FOX10: Ugliest City Hall:  
https://www.fox10phoenix.com/video/1690226  
6.5-minute segment mentioned ghost tours, pleasant weather, Grand Canyon, Apollo missions, forest, 
Route 66 Centennial, Weatherford, Orpheum, Lowell Observatory.  
 
@azfoodie (300k followers) 
https://www.instagram.com/reel/DNEhnCqB_vl/?igsh=MW02OTFtbHZ4aTVocQ==  
https://www.instagram.com/reel/DMq8VrrSYko/?igsh=ODFodzQ5ODA3YWVt 
Several posts from multiple influencers who visited in July for a special Atria event.  
 
@eatlovetravelplay (12k followers)  
https://www.instagram.com/p/DMvuCB-TAk-/?img_index=2  
Several posts from multiple influencers who visited in July for a special Atria event.  
 
@foodie_fosho/ (3k followers) 
https://www.instagram.com/p/DMxgPJqRu_l/?img_index=1  
https://www.instagram.com/p/DMsYOsaxdSf/?img_index=7  
https://www.instagram.com/p/DMiGn3KR255/?img_index=1 
Several posts from multiple influencers who visited in July for a special Atria event.  
 
@bestofthesouthwest (2.5k followers) 
https://www.instagram.com/p/DMjVlc-PWme/  
Several posts from multiple influencers who visited in July for a special Atria event.  
 
 
Selma Explores project with Discover Flagstaff 
https://www.instagram.com/stories/highlights/18200924986314231/  
https://www.instagram.com/p/DNs2GzXYh20/?img_index=1  
https://www.instagram.com/p/DNmKVteyHXG/  
https://www.instagram.com/reel/DN8aC4RkT1c/?utm_source=ig_web_copy_link  
https://www.tiktok.com/@selma.explores/photo/7541789301114227982  
https://www.tiktok.com/@selma.explores/video/7540832968076430647  
https://www.facebook.com/share/p/1C4wEGGXhZ/  
https://www.facebook.com/share/p/1CDUfTRS7s/  
https://www.facebook.com/share/r/1aV4H8gaPQ/  
https://www.facebook.com/share/r/17ByTew6Z9/  
Influencer Selma Explores produced several posts in a partnership with DF. Her IG account has 53k 
followers. FB has 35k. TikTok has 7k. 
 
Jenn Baluch, @TastesofAZ, 106k followers 
https://www.instagram.com/reel/DN1Puq75K6t/?utm_source=ig_web_copy_link  
https://www.instagram.com/p/DNzA9Xm5Ei7/?utm_source=ig_web_copy_link  
 
Christina Barrueta, @WriteonRubee, 29k followers 
https://www.instagram.com/p/DNwU4S55OWF/?img_index=1 
https://www.instagram.com/p/DNyxVyKZLPg/  
https://www.instagram.com/p/DNzC2-lQoxl/  
https://www.instagram.com/p/DN1oFCVwjGs/?utm_source=ig_web_copy_link  

https://www.fox10phoenix.com/video/1690226
https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.instagram.com%2Fazfoodie%2F%3Fhl%3Den&data=05%7C02%7CRyan.Randazzo%40flagstaffaz.gov%7Cb776d14daa86412a3d7108ddc0b3a971%7C5da727b9fb8848b4aa072a40088a046d%7C0%7C0%7C638878600079465802%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=VDf4COW6yOnrszak9OHNneCUi%2FMP1UOy8IPEHU42GSs%3D&reserved=0
https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.instagram.com%2Freel%2FDNEhnCqB_vl%2F%3Figsh%3DMW02OTFtbHZ4aTVocQ%3D%3D&data=05%7C02%7CRyan.Randazzo%40flagstaffaz.gov%7C92b48db2caa64e6b8c0a08ddd6adb490%7C5da727b9fb8848b4aa072a40088a046d%7C0%7C0%7C638902763719436494%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=h3xds5%2B99WpJgTQ9KRkguOC%2B9N4%2FmKkOvEjAnjUHR7g%3D&reserved=0
https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.instagram.com%2Freel%2FDMq8VrrSYko%2F%3Figsh%3DODFodzQ5ODA3YWVt&data=05%7C02%7Cryan.randazzo%40flagstaffaz.gov%7Cd5b9e90e3a2f476f82b108ddce48d950%7C5da727b9fb8848b4aa072a40088a046d%7C0%7C0%7C638893534483599009%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=UAIeLIHiRr9SDqxVmAKUwAAVGljFwA3yLj%2F%2BKyc%2FVWY%3D&reserved=0
https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.instagram.com%2Featlovetravelplay%2F&data=05%7C02%7CRyan.Randazzo%40flagstaffaz.gov%7Cb7cbbdc9f0f6409521f008ddba687429%7C5da727b9fb8848b4aa072a40088a046d%7C0%7C0%7C638871679979913414%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=GaphrvPW4j4%2FyHB%2FhZjZLnvMN3v24sNCXSk%2FJP5rg54%3D&reserved=0
https://www.instagram.com/p/DMvuCB-TAk-/?img_index=2
https://www.instagram.com/foodie_fosho/
https://www.instagram.com/p/DMxgPJqRu_l/?img_index=1
https://www.instagram.com/p/DMsYOsaxdSf/?img_index=7
https://www.instagram.com/p/DMiGn3KR255/?img_index=1
https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.instagram.com%2Fthebestofthesouthwest%2F&data=05%7C02%7CRyan.Randazzo%40flagstaffaz.gov%7C5d943170b6bd4d883bb808ddbfe3f00e%7C5da727b9fb8848b4aa072a40088a046d%7C0%7C0%7C638877707904405482%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=30ihoIyPG0sQ2r2fuj7%2FQ%2B6SLt5ZSPHagk7n4HZ6o9A%3D&reserved=0
https://www.instagram.com/p/DMjVlc-PWme/
https://www.instagram.com/stories/highlights/18200924986314231/
https://www.instagram.com/p/DNs2GzXYh20/?img_index=1
https://www.instagram.com/p/DNmKVteyHXG/
https://www.instagram.com/reel/DN8aC4RkT1c/?utm_source=ig_web_copy_link
https://www.tiktok.com/@selma.explores/photo/7541789301114227982
https://www.tiktok.com/@selma.explores/video/7540832968076430647
https://www.facebook.com/share/p/1C4wEGGXhZ/
https://www.facebook.com/share/p/1CDUfTRS7s/
https://www.facebook.com/share/r/1aV4H8gaPQ/
https://www.facebook.com/share/r/17ByTew6Z9/
https://www.instagram.com/reel/DN1Puq75K6t/?utm_source=ig_web_copy_link
https://www.instagram.com/p/DNzA9Xm5Ei7/?utm_source=ig_web_copy_link
https://www.instagram.com/p/DNwU4S55OWF/?img_index=1
https://www.instagram.com/p/DNyxVyKZLPg/
https://www.instagram.com/p/DNzC2-lQoxl/
https://www.instagram.com/p/DN1oFCVwjGs/?utm_source=ig_web_copy_link


 

FILM OFFICE: 
Film permits issued: 2 (August 2024: 0) 
Film assists: 2 (August 2024: 3)  
 

 EMAIL CAMPAIGN: 
• Discover Flagstaff  

o Reach 30,152, Open rate 33% 

o Top clicks went to Fall Foliage Drives, the Festival Sweepstakes, and Fall Events. The next 

runner-up was accommodations. The 2024 email was sent at 10:30am while the 2025 

email was sent at 10am, to see if this is still the most successful time, it is. Subject 

headlines were similar in calling out fall happenings in flagstaff but the 2024 headline 

had more specifics such as mentioning drives and events. 

• Dining drip 

o Reach 490, Open rate 41% 

o The subject headline in 2024 was "Eco friendly - Savory and Sustainable" while the 

subject headline in 2025 was "Watch Funny Flagstaff Food Segments" and the email in 

2024 was sent 30 

minutes later than the 

email in 2025. 

10:30am is the better-

performing time. 

Content supported a 

new food short series 

starring chef John 

Conley from Salsa 

Brava, Fat Bagels and 

Fat Olives and his son 

Adam.  

• Events drip 

o Reach 1,771, Open 

rate 47% 

o The 2025 subject 

headline called out 

"FREE Celestial Event" 

while the 2024 subject 

headline was simply 

"Upcoming Celestial Event", so attributing the decrease in open rate to the time 

difference. The 2024 email was sent at 10:30am while the 2025 email was sent at 10am. 

• Outdoor drip 

o Reach 1,877, Open rate 33% 

o The 2024 email was sent at 10:30am while the 2025 email was sent at 10am so 

attributing that to the decrease in open rate as 10:30am continues to be the preferred 

email time for the Discover Flagstaff audience. 



 

• Flagstaff Local 

o Reach 1,433 

o Open rate 45% 

o The subject headline in 2024 was "Downtown in Need, Freaky Tours, and.." while the 

subject headline in 2025 was "Free Festivals and Reduced Fire Restrictions". Usually 

"free" gets attention but maybe the locals seeing "downtown in need" while all the 

construction was taking place piqued their interest. The August 2024 email is the most 

successful Flagstaff Local email to date. The top clicks in the August 2025 email went to 

Raid the Kitchen, Festival of Science, and Fire Aware. 

 
 
 

 
 
 
PASSPORTS: 
 

• Trails Passport 

o Sign-ups 59, Check-ins 24 

o The most popular check-ins during August 2025 were the 

Kachina Trail, Nordic Village, and Hart Prairie. There was a 

couple visiting from California that checked in to several trails 

as well as some locals. Other passholders who checked in 

were from Ohio and we saw a repeat passholder from 

Michigan who also checked into locations using the Route 66 

Passport too.  

• Route 66 Passport  

o Sign-ups 67, Check-ins 99 

o The most popular check-in during August was the Flagstaff 

Visitor Center. There were several locations that had exactly 3 

check-ins so seeing a group using the passport and checking in 

along their itinerary stops was exciting to see. Upon further 

digging, there were visitors using the passport from 

Pennsylvania, Michigan, and of course, Phoenix. 

 
 

SWEEPSTAKES: 



 

• Flagstaff Festival Sweepstakes 

o 635 entries 

o The Festival Sweepstakes continues to struggle with 

gaining entries compared to the year prior. Though it is 

included in several social media posts, videos, and every 

email sent out to the Discover Flagstaff audience of 30k 

people, people are just hesitant to enter; it was even the 

second top clicked link in the August 2025 email, but still 

entries are low. A disclaimer was added to let people 

know information collected is used only for the 

sweepstakes but there has been little impact. 

 

SOCIAL MEDIA: 

• Top FB post this month was highlighting the Coconino County Fair, with 7,524 in reach and 414 

engagements. Second top post was a post welcoming back our Lumberjacks, with 6,321 in reach 

and 398 engagements. 

• Top post for FL was in support of the City of Flagstaff's volunteer calendar, with 62 in reach and 

4 engagements. 

• DF's insta was popular this month! We had a video go viral with 47,543 in reach and 4,593 

engagements. Second top post was a post highlighting Labor Day weekend events at 4,046 in 

reach and 283 

engagements. 

 

Top Facebook Posts: 
 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Top Instagram Posts: 
 
“Are you sure about that?”: https://www.instagram.com/reel/DNGT-mkx__t/ 
Lizard Trend: https://www.instagram.com/reel/DNjgt5gyFpx/ 
 

 

SALES: 

 
INTERNATIONAL TRAVEL TRADE: 
 

• BRAND USA GLOBAL INSPIRATIONS PROGRAM RESULTS 

o This program inspires awareness and consideration in travelers and the travel trade 

industry around the world through one robust program via the USA’s official travel 

guide and social media campaign. Campaign results were received August 5, 2025.  

▪ Visit the USA Annual Print Campaign: May 1, 2024 – May 30, 2025 

• This campaign is upper funnel, focusing on inspirational promotion to 

selected markets and leading to engagement with Flagstaff content. 

Languages: English, German, French, Portuguese, Spanish, Korean, 

Japanese 

• 150,000 Print: Distributed in Australia, Benelux, Brazil, Canada, France, 

Germany, India, Ireland, Italy, Japan, Latin America, New Zealand, 

Norway, South Korea, Spain, Taiwan, and the UK.  

• Also, there is a digital guide component in all languages that is 

promoted globally. The digital guide is also used by trade operators as 

their official visitor guide for the US.  

▪ Three Month Social Media Campaign: July 17, 2024 – Sept 14, 2024 

• Global impressions served via carousel ad links to content. 

• Global reach targeted distribution in the UK, India and German markets 

• Results Exceeded the 0.02% Click Thru Rate (CTR) of 0.02%! 

o Estimated Impressions 4,000,000 – Actual 13,705,395!  

o Impressions over-Delivery 242.63% WOW! 

o Destination Clicks 5,473! 

o Destination CTR 0.04% - Double the benchmark, amazing!    

https://www.instagram.com/reel/DNGT-mkx__t/
https://www.instagram.com/reel/DNjgt5gyFpx/


 

 

• BRAND USA 2025 OPTIMIZED AUSTRALIA CAMPAIGN RESULTS 

o This campaign reached a unique, highly qualified Australian audience curated by Brand 

USA.  

o Campaign results received August 5, 2025 

o Discover Flagstaff participated in the Australia Spring 2025 campaign:    

▪ 47-Day Campaign Dates: March 17, 2025 – May 20, 2025 

▪ Interactive Travel Guide (ITG) Generated 2,770,941 Impressions  – 38% over the 

estimated 2,000,000 impressions. Cicks of 295 with Click thru rate or CTR of 

.07% - Industry Benchmark is 0.2%! Very Strong!  

▪ Native Ad Generated 6,719,599 Impressions – 34% over the estimated 

5,000,000 impressions. Clicks of 3,552 with CTR of .05% - Industry Benchmark is 

0.2%! Awesome!  

▪ Discover Flagstaff Culture & History Digital Ad produced 1,142 Clicks 

▪ Expedia attributed $4,088 Bookings with 36 Expedia Room Nights… more 

booking reports pending with the Adara report coming end of Sept. 2025 

▪ 501 Visitors engaged with the 495 unique views – Very positive result!  

 

 

 

• WANDERLUST - UK’S LEADING TRAVEL MAGAZINE AND MULTIMEDIA TRAVEL BRAND 



 

o Their focus is on taking the road less travelled, spotlighting hidden gems and lesser-visited 
destinations. Wanderlust empowers their 
audience of affluent, culturally curious 
travellers to discover off-the-beaten-track 
destinations around the world and have built 
a loyal audience of over 250,000 subscribers 
across the UK and the US, with 13 million 
online readers every year (with half of these 
in the US). 

o Full-Page ad scheduled for 
September: Wanderlust North 
America Special Issue 

o E-Newsletter ad published 
August 8, 2025, resulting in 
45,856 opens and 105 banner 
clicks. 

 

• ATTENDED – HOTEL PROPERTY RIBBON CUTTING EVENTS 

o August 20th – TRU by Hilton and Home2 Suites by Hilton celebrated their grand opening!  

o August 21st – Hotel Elev8 Wyndham celebrated the hotel’s rebranding and 

transformation of new ownership!  

 

 VISITOR SERVICES: 

August  2024  2025  YoY Change  

Walk-ins   12,065   11,538  -4%  

Retail Sales   $37,575    $42,081   12%  

 
Model Train  

•  The Model Train ran 229 times during the month of August.   
Brewery Trail  

• Visitor Center gave out 112-pint glasses for Flagstaff Brewery Trail redemptions!  
 
 



 

Reviews   
• Visitor Center received many positive 

reviews on our Google and Yelp listings 
below are a couple examples.   

  

 
 
 
 
 
Visitor Center Express-August 2025  
  

August  2024  2025  YoY Change  

Walk-ins  N/A  556  N/A  

Retail Sales  N/A  $1,563  N/A  

  
 

CREATIVE SERVICES:  
 
ADVERTISING: 

• ROUTE 66 PASSPORT BADGE 
AD: Designed a Route 66 passport ad 
for the Flagstaff Business News  

• AIRPORT WRAP FOR 
SKYDOME: Finalized the “Fly easy, fly 
FLG” stairway wall wrap 

• SKYDOME ELEVATOR 
BANNER: Designed a 10’x27’ “Yep, 
That’s Flagstaff’ elevator banner 

• WALK THIS TALK 
BROCHURE: Updated the content and 
added the Route 66 centennial logo to 
the Walk this Talk tour brochure 

• ANNUAL PARTNER LUNCHEON:  
• Created the invite for the upcoming 

annual partner luncheon. 
• The FY25 Annual Report for Discover Flagstaff (and Economic Vitality) is in the design 

phase and will be printed in late October. 
• ROUTE 66: Finished design for the Route 66 Centennial wayfinder sign. 
• AMERICA 250: Started production on a Flagstaff specific America 250 Logo. 
• DRIVE MARKET/NATIONAL CAMPAIGNS: Produced digital ads for 

September Datafy and Phoenix New Times inclusive newsletter, continued run 



 

on 2News.com (Be Fire Aware), AZCentral.com; news tickers for 12News Broadcast; print ads 
for Phoenix Magazine, Phoenix New Times, AZ Drive Guide, Visit Greater Phoenix Travel Guide,  
National Park Guide-Grand Canyon Edition; Rotating digital billboards in Phoenix included 
September festivals.  
 

VIDEO:  

• Coordinated a video production for a 
Scottsdale market promotion. 

• Continued coordinating with 
production company to finalize the 
Rt. 66 Centennial promo video. 
 

 CITY JOBS: 
• CITY CAREER AD: Updated the 

Flagstaff City Careers ad for the NAU 
Career Resource Guide 

• AIRPORT PARKING LOTS 
SIGNS: Designed new sandwich board signs for the Economy and 
Terminal Lots at the Flagstaff airport 

• 911 DISPATCH POSTER: Created a Mission/Values flyer and poster for Flagstaff Police 
   
WEBSITE: 

• FALL: Switched the summer website content over to fall content and updated outdated 
information and listings 

  

 
 

 
 
   

 
ANNUAL FAA PART 139 CERTIFICATION INSPECTION: 
The FAA conducted its annual Part 139 Certification inspection this month to ensure FLG remains in 
compliance with federal regulations. The inspection included a review of operational records, timed 
response assessments, and both daytime and nighttime airfield (movement area) inspections. Staff met 
with the inspector for a debrief, which went well, and are now awaiting the official determination letter 
from the FAA. 
 

https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.flagstaffarizona.org%2Fevents%2Ffall-events%2F&data=05%7C02%7CHHansen%40flagstaffaz.gov%7C8a4bf7d405904faf48ff08ddf49d5396%7C5da727b9fb8848b4aa072a40088a046d%7C0%7C0%7C638935678810807734%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=m1vKhxV5tgqwL4wmx9PccrEbCdavVvLpnZggg1NvSgY%3D&reserved=0


 

AIRCRAFT RESCUE FIREFIGTHING 
(ARFF): 

• ARFF crews conducted fire 
extinguisher training with 
Wiseman Aviation staff, who 
are required to complete 
hands-on training within 60 
days of hire.  

• Greyson Halik, ARFF’s 
newest team member, was 
named Recruit of the Week at the Greater Flagstaff Regional Recruit Academy. Each week, 
instructors and fellow recruits vote on the individual who demonstrates excellence in technical 
skills, teamwork, work ethic, and determination. This recognition is a significant achievement, 
and we are proud of Greyson! 

 
MARKETING + ADVERTISING: 
An additional Mountain Line bus ad was purchased, bringing 
the total to five running throughout town. A new static ad will 
also be installed on a wall at the NAU SkyDome. Staff 
continues to focus on promoting the airport locally, as 78% of 
area passengers currently leak to Phoenix Sky Harbor. 
Encouraging more travelers to fly local is key, as filling 
existing seats is the most effective way to secure new air 
service. 
 

 
 
 
TSA SCREENING STOREFRONT: 

• On December 24, 2024, the 
security coil door 
malfunctioned and could not 
be closed. This door is a critical 
component in securing the hold 
room. Working with the 
Airport’s Job Order Contractor 
(JOC), staff installed a 
temporary wall with a man 
door to maintain security.  



 

• Following the temporary fix, staff collaborated with the City’s Facilities team and TSA to develop 
a long-term solution.  

• The proposed design includes 
installing one set of double 
doors and a single man door 
storefront.  

• Staff met with the Budget Team 
to secure funding, which was 
approved, and partnered with 
the JOC to move forward with 
design and installation. 
Construction is expected to 
begin in early November. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
SNOW REMOVAL EQUIPMENT BUILDING: 
Staff continues to coordinate with the design and construction teams on the redesign and project cost 
estimates. The design team has submitted the concept and site plan for City staff review and comment 
through the IDS process and has also completed the 60% design package, allowing the construction 
team to begin pricing the project. The construction team is scheduled to deliver the Guaranteed 
Maximum Price (GMP) to the City by October 17. A draft GMP will then be submitted to the FAA in late 
October. The FAA will use this information to guide City staff on the final discretionary grant request 
amount. 

 

 
 

 
 



 

AIRPORT VISITORS: 
F-35s have been soaring over FLG this month. At 7,014 feet, FLG is the 6th 
highest commercial airport in the U.S., and our elevation combined with 
proximity to Luke Air Force Base makes FLG a prime training location for U.S. 
and international F-35 pilots. Later in the month, we welcomed three C-130s, 
two U.S. Marine Corps KC-130s and one U.S. Air Force C-130. 

  

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
PASSENGER SUPPORT: 
Dusty, support dog, was brought to the Flagstaff Pulliam 
Airport often to help ease the passengers who stress 
over flying. Dusty passed away in August and we will 
miss him dearly.  
   

 
 
 
 
 
AIRPORT ENPLANEMENTS, OPERATIONS, AND FUEL FLOW: 
 
Enplanements are defined as revenue passengers boarding flights. August’s enplanements were down 
2% compared to August 2024.  
 



 

 
 
Each aircraft takeoff or landing is counted as an operation. August’s operations were 35% higher than 
August 2024. 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 



 

PARKFLAG: 
 

PARKFLAG OPERATION UPDATES: 

 

• Parking Rate Study Update: ParkFlag, in partnership with City of Flagstaff Legal and Finance, 
completed the Parking Rate Study, which was publicly posted the first week of July.  Since then, 
the team has continued meeting regularly and is currently drafting the ordinance language.  
A new permit and parking fee schedule has been created, and two public information discussion 
meetings were held September 10, 2025. The first ordinance reading has been rescheduled to 
October 7th, 2025. 

• Flowbird App Update: Staff continues to work with Flowbird to resolve ongoing issues affecting 
approximately 2% of app users. 

• Operations & Maintenance: The ParkFlag team stayed busy in July, tackling key maintenance 
and improvements: 

• Serviced multiple kiosks by removing graffiti, replacing batteries, a card reader, 
and paper rolls. 

• Repaired and replaced parking signs in various locations. 

• Staffing Update: We welcomed a new team member this month, Rachel Dominguez, who joined 
ParkFlag from the Flagstaff Police Department. She has already been an asset in enforcing two-
hour parking time limits. 

 

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE AND PARKING STATS: 

• Revenue Overview: ParkFlag generated $110,543 in pay-to-park revenue in August, reflecting a 
3.5% increase compared to August 2024.  

• Permit Sales: Permit sales totaled $6,813, reflecting an increase in sales monthly permit sales 
compared to July 2025, and a slight increase comparted to August 2024. This is very common to 
see at the end of the annual permit cycle, as customers re-purchase annual permits for FY25/26. 

• Parking Stats: In August, vehicles parked a total of 110,546 hours within the pay-to-park district. 

 



 

 
 

BEAUTIFICATION, ARTS & SCIENCES: 
 

Completed Project 
Beautification in Action (BIA) Grant 
Sego Lily Trail Flowers 

Crystal Estrada completed her BIA grant project consisting of planting native plants at the Sego Lily 
Trailhead. With consultation from PROSE, she removed invasive weeds and added riprap rock to guide 
water flow and avoid erosion. Plants include: rabbitbrush, native yucca, Mexican hat, evening primrose, 
fern bush, and ponderosa pine. She will continue to hand water the plants until they are established. 

 

Beautification/Public Art Capital Projects in Process 
• British Phone Booth: Pre-bid site meeting conducted with contractors.  Issues of electrical source for 

the light have arisen as previously identified source is on BNSF railroad 
land plus issues regarding the lead time for the bench and who will 
cement in the phone booth are all causing delay. 

• Bushmaster Court Project Landscaping: Change order for Kwanzan Cherry 
Trees approved.  Revised contribution from Urban Trees line item to 
reflect landscaping installation sent to Finance.  

• Cleo Murdoch Park Sculpture, Rustle: Sculpture orientation determined 
and agreed upon by Staff, Peak Engineering, and artist using a mockup (pic 
right). Calculations taken to inform foundation design. 

• Downtown Mile, Milton Rail Underpass: Cost sharing determination 
made. BAS will pay for art screens & any lighting and underlying project 
will pay for concrete form liners. 



 

• Joe Montalvo Mosaic: Artist and architect worked out wall materials and underlays that will work 
for the mosaic.  North wall of new Stem building confirmed as location. 

• Multicultural County Park Sculpture Exhibition: Selection panel met and scored applicants for 
2026/2027 exhibition. Recommendations will be presented to BPAC on September 8th meeting for 
approval.  Estimate received and contract drafted for FY26 installation support services. 

• Route 66 Fence Decoration: New logo design for ADOT fences near Ponderosa and Route 66. 

• Spruce Wash Wedge 3D Art:  
Design team assessed site 
conditions, identified potential 
art locations, reviewed project 
schedule and timelines for initial 
community outreach (survey 
focus group). Traffic Engineer 
approved an engineering 
standards modification request 
to reduce the curb return radius 
for the northwest corner of 
Cedar and West from 30’ to 25’.  
This will give more space on the 
sidewalk and on the promontory. 

• Switzer Canyon Roundabout 3D Art: Selection panel met and reviewed 52 applicants. Scoring due 
on September 9th.    

• Traffic Signal & APS Utility 
Cabinets: APS inspected the 6 
cabinets and final designs sent to 
vendor. 

• Water Tank Mural at Buffalo Park: 
Undercoat (white) and protective 
(green) completed.   

 
 

Programming, Grants, Maintenance + Outreach 
• BPAC: August meeting held. Action items included approvals for: BIA Grant Mural Applicant; Milton 

Rail Bridge Underpass Aesthetic Concept; Final Design for the Dunbar School Historic Plaque at 
Murdoch Community Center; Modification of BIA Grant Guidelines; an additional one-year term for 
the BPAC Chair, and the appointment of a new Vice-Chair. Discussion items included: New Project 
Proposal in Heritage Square; New Project Proposal for Sculpture Garden at Joe Montoya Community 
Center; and a BIA grant update on the Sheepherder Crossing Mural. 

• Creative Flagstaff: ARTx call to artists given City approval 

• Celebrating African Americans in Flagstaff Mural: Plan formulized with Public Works to replace 
current dumpster with a newly painted one, featuring an artist-specified paint color. 

• Maintenance:  
o Mother Myth Mural Refurbishment: Mural Mice contract and building lessee agreement 

finalized with legal. Contact with Lumberyard Brewing established. 



 

o Rio de Flag Mosaic: After sustaining damage, the artist was contacted to apply for a 
Restoration Grant. The artist is unable to apply at this time but will apply in the future. The 
damaged mosaic does not pose a public safety risk and will 
be left as is for now. 

• Outreach:  
o Downtown Connection Center Ribbon Cutting, August 

6th:  The artist team participated in the building tours by 
discussing Lion Eyes (Through the Forest) and The Southside 
Grove.  

o Downtown Tempe 
Authority: Staff 
provided list of 2025 
artwrap applicants for 
organization’s Call to 
Artists. 

o E-Subscribers added to BAS listserv and e-blast sent 
highlighting the fall BIA grant cycle, 3D Illusion 
Street Art/Route 66 Centennial Celebration RFIP, 
and other regional public art opportunities. 

o Freaky Foot Mural Tours: Staff attended a 
preview of a new Downtown Flagstaff tour and 
provided tour guide with supplemental 
information to enhance content. 

o Fall BIA Grantee & Artist Celebration: Event 
contract executed, and invitation reminders sent.  
So far about 55 attendees have RSVP’d for this 
September 11th event. 

o Multicultural County Park Sculpture Exhibition: Print 
inclusion and online feature in the Aug./Sept. issue of 
Phoenix Home & Garden. Story also posted to magazine’s 
social media platforms. Flagstaff Honors Artists of Color 
with Powerful Outdoor Sculpture Exhibition 

o Scottsdale Public Art Plinth Project: Staff served on the 
selection panel to review RFQs for two temporary 3D 
sculptural installations.  

o Spruce Wash Wedge: Connect Flagstaff community 
survey published, press release sent to media, social 
media posted, and stand-alone eblast sent. 37 surveys 
completed. designed. 

• Temporary Street Art (previously called “Chalk Art”) for Route 66 
Centennial Celebration: Informal request for artist proposals opened. 

• Turrell Skyspace: Site visit to a skyspace with a retractable roof conducted in Green Mountain Falls, 
CO to determine its applicability to Flagstaff. 

 

 

 

https://www.phgmag.com/flagstaff-honors-artists-of-color-with-powerful-outdoor-sculpture-exhibition/
https://www.phgmag.com/flagstaff-honors-artists-of-color-with-powerful-outdoor-sculpture-exhibition/


 

Highlighted Arts & Science Grant Recipient Programs in July  
 
Held Saturday, August 2, 9:30-11:30 am 

Rocks Rock! A Science Saturday Program 

Presented by Willow Bend Environmental Education Center 

703 E. Sawmill Road 

Free and open to the public 

Participants explored rock samples, pieced together the story of geologic history, 

+ more with hands-on experiences and activities for all ages.  

 

Held Saturday, August 9, 2-4 pm 
Tynkertopia’s Seventh Birthday 

Presented by Tynkertopia, 3330 E. Elder Drive 

Free and open to the public 

Participants enjoyed an afternoon of fun featuring games, tours, and 

refreshments. 

 

Held Sunday, August 17, 3-4:40 pm 

A Sinatra Reunion, The Beaver Street Theatre 

Presented by Flagstaff Shakespeare Theater  

Tickets were $25-$100 

Celebrating Frank’s 110th birthday, Doug Riddle, Jamey Hasapis, Jeanie 

Carroll, and Lynn Timmons Edward first appeared together in Old Blue 

Eyes, a 2011 Cabaret fundraiser for the Flagstaff Music Theatre Production of Hello Dolly. Their sold-out 

show led to several more cabarets, the last being A Tribute to Sinatra at Charly’s in 2018. They were back 

together for one show to reminisce and bring to life songs like “Luck Be a Lady Tonight,” “New York, New 

York,” “That’s Life” and many more from the era of The Rat Pack. 

 

Held Friday, August 29, 10-11 am 

Upcoming sessions: September 12 & 19, 10-11 am 

Sound Connections Late Summer Series,Joe C. Montoya Community & Senior 

Center, Free and open to the public 

Presented by Sound Connections-Greg Hill Fund for Music in Dementia 

Sound Connections is a multi-generational music gathering where community 
members come together to create, connect, and thrive through live music 
making. These events welcome participants with memory loss. Additional 
caregivers were/will be available to provide care partner respite during the 
session. While loved ones are engaged in music-making, care partners were are 
invited to gather to discuss local community needs and solutions for memory 
loss in Flagstaff.  

 

https://willowbendcenter.org/?fbclid=IwY2xjawMCBaVleHRuA2FlbQIxMABicmlkETFYS3gxcGtRSVVGazZrYUk3AR6iwbzCARerSp91rbH0g2Wq_5IfvLOB0ppUnBvdsom0HzC5-49ry9XEflyO2Q_aem_B-Uk9Do_wKIv_cFCvb5QRA
https://www.tynkertopia.org/?fbclid=IwY2xjawMCBxxleHRuA2FlbQIxMABicmlkETFYS3gxcGtRSVVGazZrYUk3AR5wrVL0aTWgVeWqtILhSDELF8GiYKQyrnqpqlzvuCJW5YAYMUUUsOxI4Aez2A_aem_f8B8A_EtXF_8ENicq9HoqQ
https://flagshakes.org/
https://www.facebook.com/profile.php?id=61571967373522


 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 

 
Moonshot Open House: Moonshot Business Incubator and Accelerator hosted its annual Open House. 

Local business vendors and an evening reception highlighted the Open House. Workshops for 

entrepreneurs included business financing options, integrating AI into your business, and effective 

business accounting. Open House sponsors included Arizona Public Service, Compass CBS Foundation, 

Western Alliance Bank, and the City of Flagstaff.  

Brownfields Conference in Chicago: Staff attended the National 

Brownfields Conference in Chicago this month, which brought 

together national leaders, policymakers, and practitioners focused on 

land revitalization and redevelopment. The sessions provided 

valuable insights into federal and state funding opportunities, best 

practices for site cleanup, and strategies for leveraging brownfield 

projects to drive economic growth. Key takeaways included 

innovative financing models and community engagement 

strategies that ensure redevelopment projects create long-term 

benefits. Overall, the conference offered timely knowledge and 

connections to help strengthen our local brownfields initiatives. 

The current grant cycle has had 13 properties nominated for an 

assessment. The advisory committee will be considering another 7 

properties for approval next month. 

 

NACOG Economic Development Council: A highlight of August’s NACOG Economic Development Council 

was a presentation by Neil Large, Program Administrator for the Arizona Office of Outdoor Recreation. In 

2023, Arizona’s outdoor recreation activities generated $14 billion in revenue, about 2.75% of the state’s 

economy, and supports 111,000 jobs statewide. This is 20% increase from 2022. The Office of Outdoor 

Recreation emphasizes conservation and stewardship of natural and cultural resources, which include 

private public partnerships to improve infrastructure, and education and workforce training and 

investing in the next generation of outdoor leaders. The Office highlights opportunities to attract, retain 

and expand businesses in the outdoor sector and address barriers that hinder outdoor business success.  

Guardian Air: Staff toured Guardian Air’s facility near Pulliam Airport. Guardian operates 10 helicopters 

and 1 fixed wing aircraft, with 32 pilots and 25 aircraft maintenance workers. Guardian also has their 

own dispatch center, which operates like a 911 response center. They cover a service area of 81 square 

miles, with operation centers in Flagstaff, Cottonwood, Winslow, Tuba City, Polacca, Show Low, and 

Kingman. Since they serve a wide regional area, Guardian is planning for expansion and working with 

staff to explore future opportunities. 



 

New Hotels: Two new hotels opened in Flagstaff. Hilton opened a 

dual-branded hotel of Tru by Hilton and Home2 Suites, with 204 

rooms, located at 3451 S Lake Mary Road.  and Elev8, a division of 

Wyndham, opened a new location with 100 rooms at 2285 E 

Butler Avenue. The new hotel additions expand Flagstaff’s 

inventory of lodging options and makes the community more 

competitive for conferences and major events.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Camp Verde visit to FrameTec: Staff participated in a 

visitation to FrameTec, the innovative prefabrication 

company in Camp Verde. Utilizing AI, FrameTec innovated a 

solution for construction siding and roofing trusses that 

creates precise building products 4 times faster than 

traditional fabrication and greatly reduces waste products, 

while avoiding project delays that have been typical for 

most building projects. The result is framing and roofing 

trusses are installed on housing projects in weeks rather 

than months, the typical timeframe. FrameTec is looking for 

another 50 workers to round out their hiring needs. No 

experience is necessary.  



 

STEAM Park Opening in Clarkdale: Staff attended the 

opening of a STEAM Park in Clarkdale. STEAM stands for 

Science, Technology, Engineering, Art and Math. Invited to 

attend, the community park was in development for 7 years. 

Features of the park include a pollinator garden, a solar 

table and LED lighting, a rain capture system and permeable 

pavers, a sculpture and local art wall, a gray water system 

and low water landscape. A playground, basketball court, 

chess tables, and shaded event pavilion are central features. 

Funding for the STEAM Park includes $2.3 million in grant 

funds and $1 million in local donations.  

 

Geofencing for Semiconductor Conference: Economic Development, in collaboration with Discover 

Flagstaff, is developing a geofencing campaign for the upcoming SemiCon conference of semiconductor 

producers, distributors and sector supporting businesses. The geofencing campaign promotes Flagstaff 

and encourages convention attendees to investigate Flagstaff as a destination for their vacation and their 

business. People attending the SemiCon conference will receive 

several advertisements on their mobile phones and social media pages 

promoting the advantages of Flagstaff as a business-friendly location 

for their enterprise.  

Local First AZ: Staff attended the Flagstaff Business Community 

Activation get together hosted by Local First AZ at the Kickstand Café. 

Local business owners convened to discuss strategies on supporting 

each other, action items for future endeavors, success stories and 

networking for more collaboration. Staff connected with several 

businesses and addressed concerns for retaining employees, the 

minimum wage increases, and sustainable business practices.  

 

Please join us at our annual meeting luncheon on 

Wednesday, 11/5 – to RSVP: cnelson@flagstaffaz.gov 

 

THANK YOU FOR YOUR CONTINUED SUPPORT OF THE ECONOMIC VITALITY DIVISION! 

 



  8.             

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To: The Honorable Mayor and Council
From: Adriana Fisher, Housing Program Manager
Date: 09/05/2025
Meeting Date: 09/23/2025

TITLE:
2024-2025 Annual Report for the 10-Year Housing Plan
 

DESIRED OUTCOME:
This is an informational update only.

Executive Summary:
This update provides a summary of progress made between July 2024 and June 2025 by City staff and
collaborators toward achieving the goals of the 10-Year Housing Plan.

Information:
Please see the attached presentation and report.

Attachments: 2024-2025 Annual Report for the 10YHP
2024-2025 Annual Report for the 10YHP - Presentation



 



CREATE     CONNECT     PRESERVE     PROTECT 

2025-2026 Annual Report for the 10-Year Housing Plan | flagstaff.az.gov/4553/10-Year-Housing-Plan | Page 2 of 11 

2024-2025 Annual Report 
for the 10-Year Housing Plan  

 

Introduction  

Housing is the foundation of a resilient, inclusive, and equitable community. Recognizing the scale and urgency of 
the issue, the City of Flagstaff adopted its 10-Year Housing Plan on February 15, 2022, with the ambitious goal of 
halving the community’s affordable housing need over 10 years. 
 
Since the Housing Plan’s adoption, meaningful progress has been 
made. New affordable units have been delivered, zoning policies 
have evolved to support greater housing diversity, and strong public-
private partnerships have been forged to accelerate solutions. 
Though not without challenges, these achievements demonstrate 
the City’s proactive approach and ongoing momentum. 
 
This 2024–2025 Annual Report for the 10-Year Housing Plan documents the 
City’s ongoing efforts to address the community’s housing challenges 
through strategic action and community partnership. It highlights key 
milestones, cross-sector collaboration, and the continued implementation of 
selected strategies. The report serves as a record of progress and a tool for reflection, helping to evaluate 
outcomes, track data, and guide future decisions.  

Housing Market Conditions  

According to Apartments.com, in mid-2025, Flagstaff’s cost of living remains 21.2% higher than the national 
average, with housing costs exceeding the national average by 51.6%. These figures highlight the ongoing pressure 
on the local housing market, especially for first-time homebuyers. 

Source: Redfin 

https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/4553/10-Year-Housing-Plan
https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/DocumentCenter/View/72509/Flagstaff-10-Year-Housing-Plan---FINAL-6152022
https://www.apartments.com/rent-market-trends/flagstaff-az/#:~:text=Cost%20of%20Living%20in%20Flagstaff,1%2C080%20Sq%20Ft
https://www.redfin.com/city/6089/AZ/Flagstaff/housing-market


CREATE     CONNECT     PRESERVE     PROTECT 

2025-2026 Annual Report for the 10-Year Housing Plan | flagstaff.az.gov/4553/10-Year-Housing-Plan | Page 3 of 11 

As of July 2025, Redfin reports that the median home price in Flagstaff across all property types is $685,000, a 
0.9% increase over the past year, and $238,234 above the national median. However, homes are staying on the 
market longer – 49 days on average compared to 20 days last year.  
 
A July 2025 housing market presentation by housing experts to the City of Flagstaff’s Housing Commission offered 
a more detailed breakdown: single-family home prices have increased by 5%, and condominium prices by 7%, 
while townhome and manufactured home prices have remained relatively flat. These mixed trends suggest 
challenges and opportunities for prospective buyers, highlighting the continued need to improve housing access 
and affordability. 

 
The presentation also revealed a distinct affordability gap. Flagstaff’s median household income is approximately 
$69,700, while the median price of a single-family home is $787,000. To afford such a home with a 3% down 
payment ($23,610), a 6.875% interest rate, and within a 45% debt-to-income (DTI) ratio, a household must earn 
between $165,000 and $177,000 annually – more than double the area’s median income. Monthly housing costs, 
including principal, interest, taxes, and insurance, would reach approximately $6,104 – nearly three times what's 
considered affordable for the average household. 
 
Entry-level ownership options remain limited, according to the presentation. With a median price of $345,000, 
condominiums are among the most affordable ownership opportunities. Still, a household would need to earn 
$82,000 to $95,000 annually to purchase one, assuming a 7.125% interest rate, a 3% down payment ($10,350), a 
45% DTI, and a monthly payment of $3,078, including a typical $250 homeowners association (HOA) fee. These 
income requirements far exceed the average salaries of essential workers, such as teachers, police officers, and 
firefighters, who typically earn between $50,000 and $67,000. 
 
While the market has slowed, the presentation noted that most for-sale inventory remains between $500,000 and 
$900,000, particularly for single-family homes and townhomes. Just 24% of homes on the market are listed below 
$500,000, making affordable options increasingly scarce. For many prospective buyers, dual incomes, financial 
assistance, or family support are becoming essential to bridge the gap between income and cost. 
 

Meanwhile, Flagstaff’s 
rental market, though 
still expensive, is 
showing early signs of 
stabilization. As of July 
2025, the average rent 
across all unit types is 
$2,234/month, about 
6% above the national 
average of $2,100, but 
$71 lower than last year 
(Zillow). Two-bedroom 
units now average 
$1,992/month, roughly 
$100 higher than 
national rates, but 
trending downward. 
This modest cooling 
reflects growing supply 
and offers some relief for 

renters, although rent increases continue to outpace wage growth for many residents. 

Source: Zillow 

https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/4553/10-Year-Housing-Plan
https://www.redfin.com/city/6089/AZ/Flagstaff/housing-market
https://destinyhosted.com/flagsshareddocs/image/Housing%20Market%20Presentation%2007_24_2025.pdf
https://www.zillow.com/rental-manager/market-trends/flagstaff-az/
https://www.zillow.com/rental-manager/market-trends/flagstaff-az/


CREATE     CONNECT     PRESERVE     PROTECT 

2025-2026 Annual Report for the 10-Year Housing Plan | flagstaff.az.gov/4553/10-Year-Housing-Plan | Page 4 of 11 

 
Together, these housing trends illustrate the urgent need for sustained efforts to expand access to rental and 
ownership opportunities across all income levels. The City continues to value the importance of supporting a 
diverse range of housing options that meet the needs of all residents. 

2024-2025 Highlights  

 

Overarching Goal and Element Progress  

The graphic below provides a visual snapshot of progress toward the overarching goal and key elements of the 10-
Year Housing Plan. It’s updated quarterly in January, April, July, and October to incorporate data from the preceding 
three months.  
 

 
 

https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/4553/10-Year-Housing-Plan


CREATE     CONNECT     PRESERVE     PROTECT 

2025-2026 Annual Report for the 10-Year Housing Plan | flagstaff.az.gov/4553/10-Year-Housing-Plan | Page 5 of 11 

Key to the graphic’s data: 

 Residents Impacted = This category reflects the number of individuals who received housing assistance during 
the reporting period. It includes all household members supported by, but not limited to, the following 
programs: 

o Down Payment Assistance 
▪ Community Homebuyer Assistance Program (CHAP) 
▪ Employer Assisted Housing (EAH) Program: City limits only 

o Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Projects 
▪ Includes eviction prevention, move-in assistance, transitional housing, and other housing 

creation efforts 
o Housing Choice Vouchers (Section 8) 

▪ Only new vouchers received by the Housing Authority 
o Affordable Rental Units 

▪ Initial households counted once at lease-up (i. e. Incentive Policy for Affordable Housing 
(IPAH)) 

▪ Households cycling in and out of an affordable rental unit are not counted  
o Affordable Homeownership Units 

▪ Includes initial and subsequent households in new and resale affordable units, excluding those 
using down payment assistance programs 

 Market Rate Units = The number of market-rate housing units that received a final building inspection during 
the reporting period, as reported in the City's Building Finals Report. 

 Affordable Units = The number of delivered affordable units that received a final building inspection as 
reported in the City’s Building Finals Report. 

o All new rental and homeownership units built and tracked at closing of escrow (i. e. Rental 
Assistance Demonstration (RAD), IPAH, CDBG projects resulting in rehabilitated or constructed units) 

 Committed Affordable Units = The number of affordable units formally committed by a developer in a 
Development Agreement or an approved site plan or plat. This number is subject to change as commitments 
and development agreements are amended between the first approval and final construction of units. 

 
This interactive map brings the graphic’s data to life, highlighting the wide range of housing services, programs, 
and opportunities distributed throughout Flagstaff. Explore tabs highlighting Emergency Housing, Affordable 
Rentals, Affordable Ownership, Homeownership Assistance Programs, and New Market-Rate Units (coming soon). 
 
Together, the graphic and map reflect the community’s shared progress and responsibility toward building a more 
inclusive community. Each newly built unit, whether market-rate or affordable, and every household served, brings 
Flagstaff closer to the shared vision of safe, stable, and attainable housing for all. 
 
The 10-Year Housing Plan and the latest Annual Implementation Plans, Annual Reports, and the quarterly 
“Overarching Goal Progress” graphic are publicly available on the City of Flagstaff’s 10-Year Housing Plan webpage. 

https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/4553/10-Year-Housing-Plan
https://gis.flagstaffaz.gov/portal/apps/experiencebuilder/experience/?id=0c8ee234bfde438d83469057e4ef8503
https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/4553/10-Year-Housing-Plan


CREATE     CONNECT     PRESERVE     PROTECT 

2025-2026 Annual Report for the 10-Year Housing Plan | flagstaff.az.gov/4553/10-Year-Housing-Plan | Page 6 of 11 

Strategy Progress  

The 10-Year Housing Plan identifies 58 
comprehensive strategies organized under 13 policy 
initiatives to support its goal of reducing Flagstaff’s 
affordable housing need by half over 10 years. As of 
June 30, 2025, progress on these is as follows: 

 12 strategies have been completed 

 23 are in progress 

 19 are ongoing 

 4 have not been started 
 
The strategies completed, in progress, and not 
started are project-based, with defined start and end 
points. In contrast, ongoing strategies require 
sustained, long-term implementation and are not 
tied to specific timelines. 
 
The Plan’s strategies span regulatory reform, funding mechanisms, land use, tenant support, middle-market 
housing, and preservation efforts. Collectively, they are intended to boost housing supply, expand access to 
assistance, lower development barriers, and ensure equitable outcomes across all income levels and household 
types, thereby increasing housing stability and affordability. 
 
This section provides an update on the strategies completed and those still in progress during fiscal year 2024–
2025, along with status comments to effectively track and communicate progress. 

COMPLETED STRATEGIES 

The following strategy was identified in a previous implementation plan and was completed during the reporting 
period: 
 

Strategy Strategy Description  Status Status Comments 
Connect 1.2 Create housing navigator or 

advocate positions to assist both 
landlords and housing-challenged 
populations in securing and 
maintaining housing. 

   
Completed 

A Housing Navigator position was 
created and filled. The position was 
requested as an ongoing budget item 
through the City’s regular 2024-2025 
budget process and was granted 
effective 7/1/2024. 

 
 
The following strategies were completed as opportunities presented themselves during the reporting period and 
were not identified in a previous implementation plan: 
 

Completed
21%

In Progress
39%

Not 
Started

7%

Ongoing
33%

10-YEAR HOUSING PLAN 
STRATEGY PROGRESS

UPDATED JUNE 30, 2025

https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/4553/10-Year-Housing-Plan


CREATE     CONNECT     PRESERVE     PROTECT 

2025-2026 Annual Report for the 10-Year Housing Plan | flagstaff.az.gov/4553/10-Year-Housing-Plan | Page 7 of 11 

Strategy Strategy Description  Status Status Comments 

Create 5.2 Explore innovative tools and 
techniques to limit costs for 
regional development impacts on 
individual development projects, 
such as infrastructure. 

   
Completed 

The Land Availability and Suitability 
Study + Code Analysis Project 
(LASS+CAP) has completed the 
exploration of tools and techniques. 
These strategies will guide future work 
in various areas. 

Protect 1.3 Explore expanding state and local 
fair housing protected classes to 
include items such as age and 
source of income. 

   
Completed 

Due to Arizona state law, the City of 
Flagstaff is not legally able to add 
protected classes locally. If state law 
changes, this strategy will be initiated. 

STRATEGIES IN PROGRESS 

The following strategies were identified in a previous implementation plan and will be completed as part of the 
Flagstaff Regional Plan 2045: 
 

Strategy Strategy Description Status Status Comments 

Create 2.1 Update the Regional Plan policies 
to support increased density 
related to affordable housing. 

       In 
Progress 

A Regional Plan update is underway. 
The update will go to City Council for 
adoption in October 2025. Voters will 
ratify it in May 2026. 

Create 2.2 Identify suburban areas to 
support greater density and 
intensity of development.  

       In 
Progress 

A Regional Plan update is underway. 
The update will go to City Council for 
adoption in October 2025. Voters will 
ratify it in May 2026. 

Create 2.3 During the update of the Flagstaff 
Regional Plan, revise the 
Community Character chapter for 
goals and policies to include cost-
saving methods that reduce the 
conflict between affordable 
housing, historic preservation, and 
urban design. 

       In 
Progress 

A Regional Plan update is underway. 
The update will go to City Council for 
adoption in October 2025. Voters will 
ratify it in May 2026. The Community 
Character chapter is proposed to be 
eliminated and incorporated as a set of 
Best Practices for Creating a Sense of 
Place. 

Preserve 1.2 Review the Land Use Goals and 
Policies in the Regional Plan, 
Specific Plans, and City code to 
remove barriers to adaptive reuse 
for the creation of affordable 
housing. 

       In 
Progress 

A Regional Plan update is underway. 
The update will go to City Council for 
adoption in October 2025. Voters will 
ratify it in May 2026. Housing 
Attainability and Equity is one of the 
core priorities of the plan. Additionally, 
Housing staff have $3 million in bond 
funding available for this purpose. 

 
 
The following strategies were identified in a previous implementation plan, are not tied to a specific project, and 
are in progress: 
 

 

https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/4553/10-Year-Housing-Plan
https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/4888/Land-Availability-Suitability-Study
https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/4888/Land-Availability-Suitability-Study
https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/4888/Land-Availability-Suitability-Study
https://flagstaff-regional-plan-2045-flagstaff.hub.arcgis.com/


CREATE     CONNECT     PRESERVE     PROTECT 

2025-2026 Annual Report for the 10-Year Housing Plan | flagstaff.az.gov/4553/10-Year-Housing-Plan | Page 8 of 11 

Strategy Strategy Description Status Status Comments 
Create 1.8 Explore the use of the community 

land trust model and 
public/private partnerships to 
incentivize the development of 
ownership units that are priced 
significantly below market rate. 

       In 
Progress 

Housing staff are evaluating feasible 
options and will present their findings 
to City Council in the fall of 2025, along 
with an analysis of existing City-owned 
parcels designated for affordable 
housing. 

Create 3.2 Create a fund for the purpose of 
acquiring land/units for affordable 
housing in order to be able to 
respond to opportunities as they 
arise.  

       In 
Progress 

Housing staff requested $500,000 
through the City’s fiscal year 2024-
2025 budget process to initiate this 
strategy. City Council approved the 
budget request, and funds became 
available on July 1, 2024. Staff are 
holding other internal discussions to 
determine the best path forward. 

Create 3.3 Identify ongoing resource 
opportunities for the purpose of 
assisting households experiencing 
homelessness, households at risk 
of becoming homeless, first-time 
homebuyers, and affordable 
housing targeted to these 
populations. 

       In 
Progress 

A bond approved by voters, 
Proposition 442, authorized $20 million 
to create rental and homeownership 
opportunities for Flagstaff residents. $5 
million will be used to redevelop City-
owned housing to create affordable 
rental units, $3 million will repurpose 
existing available buildings into rental 
units, $5 million will be used to 
incentivize the private sector to 
incorporate affordable rentals in new 
developments, and $7 million will be 
used to expand the City’s homebuyer 
assistance program. The Housing Office 
will continue to pursue additional 
grants and resource opportunities to 
contribute to this strategy’s 
completion. CDBG City Council 
priorities continue to support this goal. 

Preserve 2.2 Acquire and rehabilitate already 
built properties for affordable 
housing projects when financially 
feasible. 

       In 
Progress 

This strategy is largely dependent on 
collaboration with private 
development partners as opportunities 
arise. 

Housing Resources and Community Efforts  

Building upon existing housing resources and ongoing community initiatives is essential as future efforts progress. 
During the reporting period, the Housing Office, alongside community partners, continued to develop, administer, 
and manage a range of programs designed to support residents across all income levels. 

COMMUNITY HOUSING PROGRAMS: 

 Affordable Homeownership Program: Offers permanently affordable homes through a 99-year renewable 
ground lease or a deed restriction.  

https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/4553/10-Year-Housing-Plan


CREATE     CONNECT     PRESERVE     PROTECT 

2025-2026 Annual Report for the 10-Year Housing Plan | flagstaff.az.gov/4553/10-Year-Housing-Plan | Page 9 of 11 

 Affordable Rental Program: Offers affordable rental units within market-rate developments, which are often 
supported by various affordable housing incentives.  

 American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA): Designates $1.9 million in one-time federal funds to support COVID-19 
pandemic relief by funding projects that enhance community resilience, address disparities in 
disproportionately affected communities, create and preserve stable and affordable housing, and prevent 
eviction. 

 Community Development Block Grant (CDBG): Administers annual entitlement funds from the Department of 
Housing and Urban Development (HUD) to build stronger and more resilient communities.  
o Program Year 2024 Entitlement: $588,146 
o Program Year 2025 Entitlement: $656,638 

 Fair Housing: Provides resources and education to the community to affirmatively further fair housing and 
combat discrimination based on race, color, religion, sex (including gender identity and sexual orientation), 
disability, familial status, or national origin. 

 Homebuyer Assistance Programs: Offers city-funded financial assistance for down payment and closing costs 
to qualifying households. 
o Employer Assisted Housing (EAH) Program: Provides up to $20,000 in homebuyer assistance for City of 

Flagstaff employees. 
o Community Homebuyer Assistance Program (CHAP): Offers up to $40,000 in homebuyer assistance to 

qualifying households (increased from $15,000 in 2023). The program will be expanded with $7 million in 
bond funds from Proposition 442 in the summer and fall of 2025 (two phases). 

 Incentive Policy for Affordable Housing (IPAH): Encourages the creation of affordable housing units through 
financial and zoning incentives. 

 Rental Incentive Bond Program (RIBP): Incentivizes developers to build affordable rental housing with bond 
funding. All $5 million in program funds have been reserved as of March 2025. 

 Adaptive Reuse Bond Program: $3 million in bond funds is designated to support projects that adaptively reuse 
existing buildings for affordable rental units. Housing staff will take the draft program to the Housing 
Commission in July 2025 and seek Council approval in September 2025.  

HOUSING AUTHORITY PROGRAMS: 

 Clark Homes: Provides 80 one- to four-bedroom units for low-income households. 

 Housing Choice Vouchers: Offers 524 Section 8 vouchers for low- to moderate-income households, including 
veterans, disabled individuals and families, victims of domestic violence and abuse, trafficking victims, youth 
aging out of the foster system, and individuals with serious mental illness. 

 Low Income Public Housing: Provides 265 one- to five-bedroom units for low-income households. 

OTHER EFFORTS: 

 Flagstaff Regional Plan 2045: Guides land use, housing, climate, and transportation policy to support 
development, affordability, and more housing variety. Aligns with the 10-Year Housing Plan by promoting 
zoning updates for “missing middle” housing, increased density, and inclusive community engagement to 
enable development of nearly 8,000 units (10% affordable) within 10 years. 

 Land Availability and Suitability Study + Code Analysis Project (LASS+CAP): The LASS portion of this project was 
completed in September 2024 and identifies priority development sites for housing. The CAP will recommend 
code changes to reduce zoning, infrastructure, and procedural barriers. The City’s project management team 

https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/4553/10-Year-Housing-Plan
https://flagstaff-regional-plan-2045-flagstaff.hub.arcgis.com/
https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/4888/Land-Availability-Suitability-Study


CREATE     CONNECT     PRESERVE     PROTECT 

2025-2026 Annual Report for the 10-Year Housing Plan | flagstaff.az.gov/4553/10-Year-Housing-Plan | Page 10 of 11 

is in the process of seeking direction from Council on key decision points related to the CAP. Consultants will 
develop final recommendations for various code changes, which will be presented to Council in 2026.  

 
More information about housing resources and community efforts can be found on the Housing Office’s webpage.  

Community Collaboration  

Flagstaff’s Housing Emergency is complex and cannot be solved by any single person or organization. Meaningful 
progress is highly dependent on collaboration and partnership across sectors. Through partnerships with 
organizations such as the Northern Arizona Association of Realtors (NAAR), Northern Arizona University’s 
Community and University Public Inquiry (CUPI) pod, the Coconino County Continuum of Care (CoC), and the 
Community Action Advisory Board (CAAB), the City deepened its engagement with housing professionals, 
students, service providers, and anti-poverty advocates. These partnerships have helped generate actionable 
insights, inform policy decisions, and foster shared responsibility in the City’s ongoing response to the Housing 
Emergency. 

NORTHERN ARIZONA ASSOCIATION OF REALTORS (NAAR) 

In fiscal year 2024-2025, the Housing Office launched monthly collaboration meetings with the Northern Arizona 
Association of Realtors (NAAR). These meetings serve as a platform to exchange information on housing-related 
issues, identify potential areas for collaboration, and align efforts to address the City of Flagstaff’s Housing 
Emergency. This partnership has allowed NAAR to share concerns and innovative insights while giving the City the 
opportunity to foster a meaningful relationship with a key stakeholder deeply committed to housing solutions for 
all Flagstaff residents. 

NORTHERN ARIZONA UNIVERSITY’S (NAU) COMMUNITY AND UNIVERSITY PUBLIC INQUIRY 
(CUPI) POD 

The Housing Office is in its third consecutive year of partnership with Northern Arizona University’s (NAU) 
Community and University Public Inquiry (CUPI) pod focused on Housing Security and Sustainability, an advanced 
undergraduate course that connects students with local organizations to address real-world community issues. 
Housing staff are invited to attend an in-person class each semester to provide the pod with an overview of 
Flagstaff’s housing challenges, clarify misconceptions, and answer student questions. Students are assigned to 
read the 10-Year Housing Plan, and with guidance from their assigned researcher, pod facilitator, and City staff, 
select a project aligned with the Plan’s goals. Students present their findings and ideas throughout the semester – 
first at a midterm check-in, where City staff provide feedback, and then in a final presentation designed to deliver 
actionable insights. This partnership has led to several tangible outcomes, including improved messaging and 
outreach for housing programs, a deeper understanding of community-identified barriers, and expanded research 
capacity beyond what staff could previously manage. 

COCONINO COUNTY CONTINUUM OF CARE (COC) 

The Housing Office is an active participant in the Coconino County Continuum of Care (CoC), which is administered 
by the Arizona Department of Housing (ADOH). Staff contribute to a range of CoC working groups, subcommittees, 
and advisory bodies that focus on the unique needs of chronically homeless individuals, families with children, 
veterans, and unaccompanied youth. These forums bring together a broad network of stakeholders, including 
shelter and housing providers, outreach and prevention organizations, and agencies offering emergency, 
transitional, and permanent supportive housing, to coordinate services and share resources. 
 

https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/4553/10-Year-Housing-Plan
https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/4372/Housing-Section
https://www.nazrealtor.com/
https://www.nazrealtor.com/
https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/DocumentCenter/View/71560/Housing-Emergency-Declaration---Resolution-2020-66
https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/DocumentCenter/View/71560/Housing-Emergency-Declaration---Resolution-2020-66
https://www.hudexchange.info/programs/coc/


CREATE     CONNECT     PRESERVE     PROTECT 

2025-2026 Annual Report for the 10-Year Housing Plan | flagstaff.az.gov/4553/10-Year-Housing-Plan | Page 11 of 11 

Housing staff also serve on the CoC Executive Committee, playing a key role in setting regional priorities, guiding 
policy decisions, and identifying opportunities for system-level improvements. The City continues to invest time 
and leadership in collaborative initiatives to strengthen the local response to homelessness and address service 
gaps. 

COCONINO COUNTY COMMUNITY ACTION ADVISORY BOARD (CAAB) 

Housing staff represent the private sector on the Coconino County Community Action Advisory Board (CAAB), a 
regional body that advises on anti-poverty strategies and coordinates services for low-income households. This 
role reinforces the City’s commitment to cross-sector collaboration and helps ensure that housing initiatives are 
aligned with broader efforts to reduce poverty and promote economic stability. 

Legislative Efforts  

The 10-Year Housing Plan identifies that many of the most significant barriers to affordable housing across all 
income levels are deeply embedded in state and federal policies, limiting municipalities like Flagstaff from 
implementing equitable, locally driven solutions. In response, the Flagstaff City Council and organizations such as 
the Arizona Housing Coalition have remained committed to advocating for local, state, and national legislative 
reforms to address housing unaffordability and expand opportunities for all residents.  

Conclusion  

While Flagstaff has made measurable progress toward expanding affordable housing options, the challenge of 
housing affordability remains significant. High homeownership and rental housing costs continue to strain many 
residents, particularly first-time buyers and essential workers. These ongoing challenges underscore the urgent 
need for comprehensive, sustained, and multi-layered solutions. 
 
The City of Flagstaff’s commitment to addressing the Housing Emergency is unwavering. Through continued 
collaboration with community partners, data-driven strategic planning, and meaningful engagement with 
residents, the City is actively working to build a future where safe, stable, and attainable housing is a reality for 
every Flagstaff resident. Together, these efforts lay the foundation for a more resilient, inclusive, and equitable 
community. 
 

https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/4553/10-Year-Housing-Plan
https://www.coconino.az.gov/1013/Community-Action-Advisory-Board


2024-2025 Annual Report
for the

10-Year Housing Plan
September 23, 2025

Adriana Fisher, Housing Program Manager

Housing Office



Agenda

• Overview of the 10-Year Housing Plan

• 2024-2025 Annual Report

• Questions/Comments



10-Year Housing Plan Overview

• Adopted: 2022

• Purpose: Housing for all!

• Overarching Goal: Reduce affordable housing need 
by half

• Elements:

o Impact 6,000+ LMI residents

o Create/preserve 7,976 homes (10%+ 
affordable)

• 13 Robust Policy Initiatives

• 58 Comprehensive Strategies



Report Overview

• Market Condition Overview

• 2024-2025 Highlights

• Overarching Goal Progress to Date

• Strategy Progress

• Housing Resources & Community Efforts

• Community Collaboration

• Legislative Efforts



2025 
Housing 
Market 
Conditions - 
Ownership

Cost of Living: 
21.2% Over 

National Average

Housing Costs: 
51.6% Over 

National Average

Median Home: 
$685K

Average Days on 
the Market: 49

Housing Stock: 
24% are Under 

$500K

Needs: Dual 
Incomes, Financial 
& Family Support



2025
Home 
Prices

Single-Family Home - $787,000

• Income Needed: $165,000-$177,000

• Down Payment: 3% ($23,610)

• Interest Rate: 6.875%

• Debt-to-Income: 45%

• Monthly Housing Payment: $6,104

Condo - $345,000

• Income Needed: $82,000-$95,000

• Down Payment: 3% ($10,350)

• Interest Rate: 7.125% 

• Debt-to-Income: 45%

• Monthly Housing Payment: $3,078 
(w/$250 HOA)



2025 Housing 
Market 
Conditions - 
Rental

Rent: 6% Over 
National Average 

of $2,200/mo

Average Rent: 
$2,234/mo

Rent for 2 BR: 
$1,992/mo



2024-2025 Assistance Overview



Progress Monitoring and Impact



https://gis.flagstaffaz.gov/portal/apps/sites/#/opendata



Strategy Progress

Completed (12/58)
21%

In Progress (23/58)
39%

Not Started (4/58)
7%

Ongoing (19/58)
33%



Strategies 
Completed  
2024-2025

Cost-saving tools and 
techniques for development 
(Create 5.2)

New Housing Navigator 
(Connect 1.2)

Protections for fair housing 
classes (Protect 1.3)



Strategies in Progress: Regional Plan Update

• Update Plan for higher density 
(Create 2.1)

• Identify suburban areas for 
increased density (Create 2.2)

• Revise for cost-saving methods 
(Create 2.3)

• Remove adaptive reuse barriers 
(Preserve 1.2)



Strategies in Progress: Not Project-Specific

• Explore land trusts and partnerships for 
ownership (Create 1.8)

• Create a land and unit acquisition fund 
(Create 3.2)

• Identify ongoing resources (Create 3.3) 

• Acquire and rehabilitate properties 
(Preserve 2.2)



Housing Resources  & Community Effort Highlights

• Bond Programs

• Rental Incentives - $5M (allocated)

• Homebuyer Assistance - $7M (in 
progress)

• Adaptive Reuse - $3M (in progress)

• Redevelopment of City-Owned 
Housing - $5M (underway)

• CDBG Allocation Increase

• Regional Plan

• LASS+CAP



Community & 
Planning Partners

• Northern Arizona Association 
of Realtors (NAAR)

• NAU Housing Security and 
Sustainability Pod

• Continuum of Care (CoC)

• Coconino County Community 
Action Advisory Board (CAAB)



Legislative Barriers and Efforts

State limits on local 
control

Advocacy continues:

City Council

AZ Housing Coalition



Questions
or

Comments?
Thank you!



  9.             

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To: The Honorable Mayor and Council
From: David Pedersen, Capital Improvements Project Manager
Co-Submitter: Michelle McNulty
Date: 09/16/2025
Meeting Date: 09/23/2025

TITLE:
John Wesley Powell Project Update
 

DESIRED OUTCOME:
Staff will provide an update on the status of the John Wesley Powell Project

Executive Summary:
This update to Council will include the latest information on the planning and engineering aspects of the JW
Powell Extension Project. 
 

Information:

Financial Impact - 
This project is not currently requesting funding or contractual approval.

 

Policy Impact -
There are no policy impacts. 
 
Connection to PBB Key Community Priorities/Objectives & Regional Plan -
Sustainable, Innovative Infrastructure
Utilize existing long-range plan(s) that identify the community's future infrastructure needs and all associated
costs
 
Environmental Stewardship
Actively manage and protect all environmental and natural resources

Council Goal 2017 -- 2019 - Transportation and Other Public Infrastructure
Deliver quality community assets and continue to advocate and implement a highly performing multi-modal
transportation system.
 
Council Goal 2017 -- 2019 - Environmental and Natural Resources
Actively manage and protect all environmental and natural resources
 
Region Plan Goal -- Environmentally Sensitive Lands Goals and Policies
Goal E&C.7. Give special consideration to environmentally sensitive lands in the development design and
review process.



Team Flagstaff Strategic Plan -- Priority 3
Deliver outstanding services through a healthy environment, resources, and infrastructure.
Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
The JW Powell Extension Project has been before City Council fifteen times in the past seven years. 
 
> 25 October 2016 (Council Work Session) - Discussion on Infrastructure and Public Facilities Planning and
Engineering in the John Wesley Powell Boulevard area.
> 6 February 2018 (Council Meeting) - Award of contract to Peak Engineering for design and planning services.
> 24 April 2020 (Council Budget Retreat) - JW Powell Blvd Extension discussed during the Capital Programming
update.
> 27 October 2020 (Council Work Session) -- Land Use Framework and engineering design update shared for
the original alignment.  
> 5 October 2021 (Council Meeting) -- Project update and Change Order 4 approved by Council.   
> 31 March 2022 (Five-Year Summary Retreat) -- JW Powell Blvd Extension discussed in project prioritization.
> 22 April 2022 (Council Budget Retreat) -- JW Powell Blvd Extension discussed during the Capital
Programming update.
> 28 June 2022 (Council Meeting) -- Council direction sought on proposed alignment for new roadway.
> 7 July 2022 (Council Meeting) -- Council finalized proposed alignment for new roadway.
> 30 May 2023 (Council Meeting) -- Project update and discussion on Specific Plan and Scope of Change
Order 5.
> 9 April 2024 (Council Meeting) -- Project update .  
> 8 October 2024 (Council Meeting) -- Project update.
> 3 December 2024 (Council Meeting) -- Approvals of Development Agreements with Little America, JP325,
LLC, STL405, LLC, Kelly J. and Christy R. Gibson for the construction of JWP across their properties and
the 1st Amendment to Canyon Del Rio Development Agreement regarding the JWP extension.
> 1 July 2025 (Council Meeting) -- Change Order 7 for Engineering Design.
> 23 September 2025 (Council Meeting) -- JWP Planning and Engineering Update.

Background/History -
On 20 February 2018, City Council approved the contract with Peak Engineering, Inc. for the John Wesley
Powell Area Specific Plan Study to develop a Specific Plan to guide the future private development of public
infrastructure, utilities and public facilities (schools, fire/police stations, libraries, parks, etc.).

In November 2018, voters approved Proposition 419 which allocated a proportional share of funding for
roadway and bike and pedestrian improvements along the future John Wesley Powell Boulevard extension. 

On 27 October 2020, City Staff and the JW Powell Design Team presented an update to City Council
regarding the current design work and the Land Use Framework.  

On 28 January 2021, the JW Powell Design Team conducted a corporate meeting with the small-parcel
property owners and consequential one-on-one meetings with small-parcel property owners who requested to
meet regarding specifics to their respective parcels. Starting in May 2021, the JW Powell Design Team began
to meet with the large-parcel property owners individually. 

On 28 June and 7 July 2022, City Council, along with copious community input, selected the final alignment
for the new JWP roadway extension. The final alignment shifts the alignment to the west and out of the South
Fourth Street corridor.

On 03 December 2024, City Council approved three separate development agreements to secure the location
of the JWP extension.

On May 14, 2025, the City of Flagstaff held a second Open House for the general public, following up on the
initial April meeting to gather feedback from property owners. This Open House followed the same format,
with stations on the specific plan process, transportation, land use, housing, and services, trails, and open
space and wildlife staffed by project team members and topic experts. Feedback from these meetings will
inform the plan's content. It is anticipated that the draft plan will be made publicly available in late fall 2025 for
review and comment and staff will present the draft plan to various commissions, including the Transportation
Commission and the Open Space Commission and to various community groups. After public feedback has



been incorporated as appropriate, the plan will go to Planning and Zoning Commission for recommendation of
approval and then to City Council for final adoption. It is anticipated that final adoption will occur in late winter
2025 or early spring 2026.

 

Attachments: Presentation
Map
Vicinity Map



J.W. Powell 
Extension

Project Update

23 September 2025



J.W. Powell Extension



J.W. Powell Extension



Engineering Update
Since Change Order – July 2025
•Coordination meetings with developers’ engineers to align utilities, 

landscape design and review access/intersections
•Updated sewer master plan for current conditions and approved planning 

applications
•Conducted geotechnical field investigation - testing and report in progress
•Prepared RSOQ for CMAR Contractor
•Rio de Flag crossing report nearing completion (comparative analysis of 

bridge, concrete arch structures, pipes and boxes)
•60% design underway for City’s segment of JWP roadway and utilities, 

targeting early November for milestone



Planning Update



J.W. Powell Extension

COMMENTS 
& QUESTIONS

www.flagstaff.az.gov/
jwpspecificplan



PINE CANYON CLUB

STL405 
ENTITLEMENTS UPDATE
September 23rd, 2025 



ENTITLEMENTS UPDATE

We Had a Plan –
But We Listened
• Heard from the community, staff, 

and Council

• Recognized the need to amend the 
original plan

• Withdrew our rezone and started 
from scratch

• Refocused on Goals & Objectives 
of the Community

• Grounded in Values and Culture



ENTITLEMENTS UPDATE

Starting with Goals and Objectives

• Missing Middle Housing 
– diversity of housing types -
10% of citywide housing plan

• Community Partner –
Delivering JWP Road, water 
& sewer

• Economic Driver – Jobs 
today, more with commercial 
& lodging

• Conservation – Protecting 
resources & practicing 
sustainability



ENTITLEMENTS UPDATE

Embracing Values and Culture
• Open Space – Preserved as a 

defining community asset

• AZ Trail, Streams, Ponds & 
Wildlife – Integrated into the plan 
for recreation and habitat

• Biodiversity – Protected through 
thoughtful land use and design

• Water Sustainability & 
Conservation –

a. Proven strategies from Pine Canyon 
(PC): advanced irrigation systems, 
reclaimed water use, and efficient 
landscape design

b. Carrying these practices forward to 
STL340



ENTITLEMENTS UPDATE

Balancing Competing Priorities

•Housing – Meeting 
community needs with diverse 
options

•Infrastructure – Partnering 
to deliver essential systems

•Economy – Driving jobs, 
commerce, and tourism

•Environment – Preserving 
open space, water, and 
biodiversity

In a jurisdiction of competing 
priorities, STL340 delivers on 
all of them.



PINE CANYON CLUB

QUESTIONS



J.W. Powell 
E. Butler Ave.§̈¦40

City 
Roadway 

Portion

Brighton
57 Acres

International 
Church 
of the 

Four Square 
Gospel
12 AcresCanyon 

del Rio
258 Acres

ABOR
NAU

120 Acres

§̈¦40

Juniper 
Point

319 Acres

COF
27 Ac.

0 0.5 1
Mile

AZ State
Trust
17 Acres

ABOR
NAU
CCC

156 Acres

* Colors are only shown
   to differentiate parcels

Multiple 
Owners
427 Acres

K

COF
37 Acres

Little America
537 Acres

STL405
405 Acres

Project Sections

Elk Ridge
80 Acres

City Portion
Proposed Alignment
City Parcels
County Parcels



JWP Extension



  10.             

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To: The Honorable Mayor and Council
From: Lee Williams, Water Services Division Director
Date: 09/16/2025
Meeting Date: 09/23/2025

TITLE:
Discussion of Amended Agreement regarding reclaimed water for Pine Canyon
 

DESIRED OUTCOME:
Informational only - This is an opportunity to give details on the amended Reclaimed Water Agreement
with Pine Canyon Golf LLC to provide transparency to City Council and the public.

Executive Summary:
Pine Canyon Golf LLC is a current reclaimed water customer and wishes to amend their current Reclaimed
Water Agreement ("Agreement") for several purposes:

1. To make clerical corrections to parcels listed in the current Agreement

County Assessor Parcel number listed is corrected
Latitude and longitude listed are corrected

2. Extend their private distribution system to the parcel adjacent to the existing use parcel to expand use
of their already allotted water for a new amenity. As the Agreement is tied to a specific parcel, an
amendment is needed to convey the water to any additional parcels not identified in the current
Agreement.

3. Pine Canyon Golf LLC will reduce their annual allotment from 360,000,000 million gallons per year to
253,000,000 million gallons per year; a nearly 30% reduction to their allotment to accomplish this
expansion. This has the potential to free up capacity within the reclaimed water system.

4. Make the start date of the Agreement to the date that the amendment is executed for the standard
five-year term.

Information:
Applicable City Code

City Code:
7-02-001-0026 I. The Director shall approve, execute and enforce reclaimed water agreements, for the
purpose of expanding the reclaimed water program to all residential and nonresidential reusers located
adjacent to existing public reclaimed water pipelines.
7-03-001-0014 E. No person shall: d. Irrigate golf courses with potable water.

Council-adopted 2014 Water Policies:
Section C3 Reclaimed Water Agreements

Policy C3.1 The Utilities Division shall require each user to have a direct delivered Reclaimed
Water Agreement which may be modified from time to time by mutual agreement of the parties.
These Agreements should contain at a minimum: user name, address, place of use, point of
delivery, delivery schedule (i.e., maximum peak day, maximum monthly and annual volume),



price, termination date, and other applicable information and contract terms as appropriate.
Reclaimed water will be considered and allocated on a first come, first serve basis, but entering a
Reclaimed Water Agreement shall remain solely within the City's discretion. Any proposed
modifications to the terms of an existing Reclaimed Water Agreement (e.g., change of intended
use, place of use, delivery schedule or other modifications) will require the applicant to obtain a
new Reclaimed Water Agreement which may be entered into or denied within the City's sole
discretion. (See Flagstaff City Code, Section 7-02-001-0023)

Section C4 Reclaimed System Capacity
Policy C4.2 Reclaimed Water System Capacity Allocation Program: The Utilities Division shall
track and monitor existing and proposed peak day and average annual reclaimed water deliveries
in order to prevent exceeding the City's ability to meet contracted for demands. When system
capacity has been approached or there are supply limitations for any reason, the Utilities
Director will stop issuing any new Reclaimed Water Agreements until such time that additional
reclaimed water supplies are available. In the event of a reclaimed water shortage, the shortfall
will be spread equitably across all reclaimed water customers.

Section C7 Uses, Allocation and Priority
Policy C7.1 The Utilities Division should continue to recommend updates to policies and
ordinances that encourage the Direct Reuse of reclaimed water where appropriate and
consistent with State and Federal laws.
Policy C7.2 Golf courses, other large turf areas (e.g., schools, parks, etc.) and amenity lakes shall
use Direct Reuse of reclaimed water.
Policy C7.3 The priority uses or future allocations of reclaimed water are:

a. Renewal of Reclaimed Water Agreements with Existing Users. First priority shall be
given to those users that already have a valid Reclaimed Water Agreement for the delivery
of reclaimed water. If requested by such existing user, the Utilities Division shall renew a
Reclaimed Water Agreement provided that all applicable financial and legal requirements
of City, State and Federal laws have been met. These Agreements shall be binding upon
any successors and assigns who acquire the property that is benefitted by the Reclaimed
Water Agreement and shall not be transferred or assigned without the City's written
consent, which shall not be unreasonably withheld.
b. Water Conservation. Conserve potable water through the Direct Reuse of reclaimed
water by converting existing uses of potable water to reclaimed water, where allowed by
State Law.
c. Public Benefit. The Direct or Indirect Reuse of reclaimed water should be encouraged as
a significant water management tool to sustain or promote economic vitality, augment
the City's water supply (e.g., Groundwater Recharge and Recovery), and support
contracted for deliveries for riparian habitat, wetlands or ponds.

Participated in City's Reclaimed Water Rebate Incentive Program in ~2002
Pine Canyon, as "Lone Tree Investment, LLC", participated in the City's reclaimed water rebate incentive
program. Reclaim customers received annual rebates of 10% of the cost incurred by them to convert
their systems to reclaimed water and/or to extend reclaimed waterlines to their sites. The rebates
offered a low cost method of financing reclaimed water extensions. Lone Tree Investment, LLC paid for
the extension of a 16-inch reclaimed water line along Lone Tree and the extension of a 12-inch
reclaimed water line across the Pine Canyon development to the future regional park boundary. Lone
Tree Investment, LLC received 10 payments of $107,495.19 from about 2002-2011

 

Attachments: Amendment
PC Reclaimed Water Agreement
Map



PowerPoint



 

12296.8.5291499.6  9/16/2025 

When recorded return to: 

 

Gammage & Burnham, PLC 

Attn: Lindsay Schube 

40 North Central Ave., 20th Floor 

Phoenix, Arizona 85004 

 

Water Services Director 

City of Flagstaff 

2323 North Walgreens St., Suite 1 

Flagstaff, Arizona 86004 

 

 

 

 

FIRST AMENDMENT TO DIRECT DELIVERED RECLAIMED WATER AGREEMENT 

 

This FIRST AMENDMENT TO DIRECT DELIVERED RECLAIMED WATER 

AGREEMENT (this “Amendment”) is made and entered into this ___ day of _______, 2025 

(“Effective Date”), by and between the CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, a municipal corporation organized 

and existing under the laws of the State of Arizona (the “City”), and PINE CANYON GOLF, LLC, an 

Arizona limited liability company (“Buyer”). The City and Pine Canyon are sometimes hereinafter 

referred to individually as a “Party” and collectively as the “Parties”. 

 

RECITALS 

 WHEREAS: 

 

A. The Parties entered into that certain Direct Delivered Reclaimed Water Agreement, 

attached to this document as Exhibit “A” (the “Agreement”). 

 

B. The Agreement allocates sufficient reclaimed water to meet demand of 30,000,000 

gallons of reclaimed water per month (360,000,000 gallons per year) to Buyer. 

 

C. Buyer has invested considerable resources towards increasing irrigation efficiency, 

resulting in Unused Effluent under the Agreement. 

 

D. The City desires to reacquire a portion of the Unused Effluent and Buyer wishes to 

offer back a portion of this effluent. 

 

E. The Parties desire to amend the Agreement to reduce the amount of effluent allocated 

to Buyer, update provisions relating to the Agreement’s duration, and clarify the place of use described 

under the Agreement. 

 

F. Sections 12 and 26 of the Agreement grant Buyer and the City, through the City’s 

Water Services Director, the ability to amend and modify the Agreement. 

 

G. The Parties have agreed to amend the Agreement in accordance with the terms of this 

Amendment.   



12296.8.5291499.6 2 9/16/2025 

AMENDMENTS  

 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Agreement is hereby amended as follows: 

 

1. Place of Use.  Section 1 of the Agreement is hereby deleted and replaced with the 

following: 

 

“1. Place of Use. Reclaimed water delivered by the City under this Agreement 

shall be used by Buyer on the following described property (the “Property”), for the 

uses described in Section 2 “Intended Use/Quality Standards.” 

 

 PROPERTY NAME:   Pine Canyon Golf 

 POINT OF DELIVERY ADDRESS: 3000 South Clubhouse Circle 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION: Coconino County APNs 10510100D, 

10510001F, 10510159C, 10510160B, 

10510161B, 10510162B, 10510163A, 

10510164B, 10510165, 10510172A, 

10510267, 10510269, 10510547 and 

10610004 

APPROXIMATE ACRES: 366.05” 

 

2. Allotment.  Section 1.1 is hereby added to the Agreement, as follows: 

 

“1.1 Annual Allotment. Subject to the provisions of this Agreement, the 

City shall allocate 253,000,000 gallons of reclaimed water per year to Buyer 

(the “Annual Allotment”) and shall deliver the Annual Allotment to the 

Property, as needed by Buyer for the Intended Use. 

 

The Annual Allotment shall be divided into twelve (12) monthly deliveries 

(each a “Monthly Delivery”). Each Monthly Delivery shall be determined by 

Buyer, at its sole discretion, based on the Intended Use described in Section 2 

of this Agreement. In no event shall any single Monthly Delivery exceed 

27,000,000 gallons, nor shall the sum of all twelve Monthly Deliveries exceed 

253,000,000 gallons.” 

 

3. Duration.  The duration of the initial term of this Agreement shall be five (5) years 

from the Effective Date of this Amendment. The Effective Date is the date when both Parties have 

signed the Amendment. 

 

4. Effect as an Amendment; Recitals. Except as expressly modified hereby, the 

Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. In the event of a conflict between this Amendment and 

the Agreement, this Amendment shall control. The Recitals of both the Agreement and this 

Amendment are incorporated herein. 

 

5. Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in counterparts, all of which taken 

together shall constitute one and the same instrument. 

 

[Signature pages follow] 



12296.8.5291499.6 3 9/16/2025 

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO FIRST AMENDMENT TO DIRECT DELIVERED RECLAIMED 

WATER AGREEMENT] 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this First Amendment to Direct 

Delivered Reclaimed Water Agreement to be effective as of the date set forth above.   

 

BUYER:  

 

PINE CANYON GOLF, LLC, an Arizona limited 

liability company 

 

 

 

By:______________________________ 

Name: ___________________________ 

Title: ____________________________ 

 

 

 

STATE OF    ) 

    ) ss 

County of     ) 

 

 The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ______ day of _________, 2025, 

by _____________________, the _________________ of PINE CANYON GOLF, LLC, an 

Arizona limited liability company, on behalf thereof.   

 

_____________________________________ 

       Notary Public 

 

NOTARY SEAL: 

 



12296.8.5291499.6 4 9/16/2025 

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO FIRST AMENDMENT TO DIRECT DELIVERED RECLAIMED 

WATER AGREEMENT] 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this First Amendment to Direct 

Delivered Reclaimed Water Agreement to be effective as of the date set forth above.   

 

 CITY:   

 
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, a municipal 
corporation organized under the laws of the State 
of Arizona  
 

 

By:______________________________ 

Name: ___________________________ 

Title: ____________________________ 

 

 

STATE OF    ) 

    ) ss 

County of     ) 

 

 The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ______ day of _________, 2025, 

by _____________________, the _________________ of CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, a municipal 

corporation organized under the laws of the State of Arizona on behalf thereof.   

 

_____________________________________ 

       Notary Public 

 

NOTARY SEAL: 

  



12296.8.5291499.6 5 9/16/2025 

Exhibit “A” 

 

Direct Delivered Reclaimed Water Agreement 

 



















Pine Canyon
Amended Reclaimed Water 

Agreement

September 23, 2025



Clerical Corrections

•County Assessor Parcel number corrected
•Latitude and longitude corrected

2



Renew Timeline

3
3

•Current agreement will expire in three years
•Amendment will renew agreement for five years

• Standard five year term



Adding Turf Yet Reducing Allotment

•Adding four acres of turf
• On adjacent parcel

•Pine Canyon Golf LLC has 
agreed to reduce their annual 
allotment from 360 MG/Y to 
253 MG/Y
• This is nearly a 30% reduction
• Allows for use elsewhere

•Reducing Peak months by 
10% from 30 MG to 27MG

4
4



Questions?

5



  11.             

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To: The Honorable Mayor and Council
From: Sterling Solomon, City Attorney
Co-Submitter: Lee Williams and Rebecca Sayers
Date: 09/18/2025
Meeting Date: 09/23/2025

TITLE:
Discussion regarding the continued release of reclaimed water into the Rio de Flag for the
enhancement of wildlife habitat, consistent with the Bow and Arrow Park Agreement, subject to
general availability and advanced water purification technologies.
 

DESIRED OUTCOME:
Discussion of Resolution 2025-51 to be considered at the October 7, 2025 Council Meeting to continue
release of reclaimed water consistent with the Bow and Arrow Park Agreement. 

Executive Summary:
The City entered into an agreement with Arizona Game and Fish Department in 2010 committing the City to
release a "weekly hourly average of 200 gallons per minute of reclaimed wastewater" for a term of 20 years.
The terms and conditions included a minimum weekly hourly average of 100 gallons per minute (GPM) from
Wildcat Hill Wastewater Treatment Facility into the Rio de Flag near Picture Canyon for wildlife habitat
enhancement. The agreement also required a minimum weekly hourly average of 100 GPM from the Rio de
Flag Wastewater Treatment Facility into the Rio de Flag near the I-40 wetlands for the purposes of wildlife
enhancement. An additional term required a weekly hourly average of 50 GPM (of the 200 GPM commitment)
into Frances Short Pond.

In the 2010 agreement, the City committed to grant public access adjacent to the release point of the
effluent/reclaimed water at Wildcat Hill Wastewater Treatment Facility for a Watchable Wildlife open space
park. Also, the agreement included the provisions for the City to obtain proper permitting and perform
monitoring and reporting according to requirements of the Arizona Department of Environmental Quality. The
City also committed in the agreement not to convey ownership of the effluent/reclaimed water to another
party.

The 2010 agreement will expire in a few years yet the City recognizes the community benefit of preserving
and enhancing riparian and wildlife areas on a long-term basis, subject to advanced water purification
technological options, regulations, and availability.

Recognizing the benefit of the commitments mentioned above, City staff believes it is feasible and
recommends continuing the release of the same amounts of effluent/reclaimed water for the purposes of
preserving and enhancing riparian and wildlife areas. This resolution will provide for those same releases over
a longer term, subject to general availability and needs related to advanced water purification.

Information:
This item is to give City Council information related to staff's recommendation to adopt Resolution 2025-xx at
the October 7, 2025 City Council Meeting.

Attachments: Res. 2025-51
Agreement



RESOLUTION NO. 2025-51 
 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE FLAGSTAFF CITY COUNCIL ESTABLISHING AN 
AMOUNT OF EFFLUENT/RECLAIMED WATER TO BE RELEASED INTO THE 
RIO DE FLAG SUBJECT TO ADVANCED WATER PURIFICATION 
TECHNOLOGICAL OPTIONS, REGULATIONS, AND AVAILABILITY 

 
 
RECITALS: 
 
WHEREAS, the City is an Arizona municipal corporation and has all necessary powers, express and 

implied, under state law as well as City Charter and City Code to operate parks, waterworks, 

wastewater reclamation facilities, and other facilities; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Arizona Game and Fish Department has statewide responsibility for managing, 

conserving and enhancing wildlife habitat, as well as securing access to public lands; and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to A.R.S. § 9-240(5) a municipality may provide infrastructure for wastewater 

management, treatment and purification; and 

  

WHEREAS, the Flagstaff City Code Section 7-02 pursuant to A.R.S. § 9-511 authorizes the City to 

engage in the business of a utility, including the reception and treatment and purification of 

wastewater, and to provide for the discharge and reuse of effluent/reclaimed water for various 

purposes; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City entered into an agreement with Arizona Game and Fish Department in 2010 

(which is attached hereto) that commits the City to release a “weekly hourly average of 200 gallons 

per minute of reclaimed wastewater” for a term of 20 years, with terms and conditions, including: 

o a minimum weekly hourly average of 100 gallons per minute (GPM) from Wildcat Hill 

Wastewater Treatment Facility into the Rio de Flag near Picture Canyon, for the 

purposes of wildlife habitat enhancement; 

o a minimum weekly hourly average of 100 GPM from the Rio de Flag Wastewater 

Treatment Facility into the Rio de Flag near the I-40 wetlands (as it is commonly 

known), for the purposes of wildlife enhancement;  

o a weekly hourly average of 50 GPM (of the 200 GPM commitment) into Frances Short 

Pond; and 

 

WHEREAS, The City also agreed with the Arizona Game and Fish Department to other terms in the 

2010 agreement including: 

o the granting of public access adjacent to the release point of the effluent/reclaimed 

water at Wildcat Hill Wastewater Treatment Facility for a Watchable Wildlife open 

space park; 

o the provision of a annual report of effluent/reclaimed water rates upon request of the 

Arizona Game and Fish Department; 

o the responsibly to obtain permits including the Arizona Pollution Discharge 

Elimination System permit and meeting all monitoring requirements; 



RESOLUTION NO. 2025-51  PAGE 2 

o the commitment by the City will not convey any ownership interest in the 

effluent/reclaimed water on any basis [see Paragraph 2(E) of the attached 

agreement]; and 

 

WHEREAS, the end of that 20-year period is near and the City recognizes the community benefit of 

preserving and enhancing riparian and wildlife areas; and 

 

WHEREAS, consistent with the regulations of the Arizona Department of Environmental Quality 

(ADEQ), the City of Flagstaff produces high quality effluent/reclaimed water at its two water 

reclamation plants which is used for various purposes subject to advanced water purification 

technological options, regulations, and availability; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Flagstaff wishes to continue the release of effluent/reclaimed water to 

locations herein upon the expiration of the 2010 agreement with Arizona Game and Fish Department 

subject to advanced water purification technological options, regulations, and availability; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Flagstaff recognizes the continued benefits that a dedicated release of 

effluent/reclaimed water at the locations or outfalls mentioned above and in the attached agreement 

for purposes of preserving and enhancing riparian and wildlife area; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Flagstaff recognizes that the release of effluent/reclaimed water requires that 

each release point or outfall be permitted and monitored for water quality pursuant to the permit 

conditions set forth by ADEQ; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City has determined it is feasible to continue the current amounts of released 

effluent/reclaimed water for the purposes of preserving and enhancing riparian and wildlife areas. 

 
 
ENACTMENTS: 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF AS 
FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1. In General. 

 

Subject to advanced water purification technological options, regulations, and availability, the City of 

Flagstaff will continue to release effluent/reclaimed water, beyond the expiration of the attached 

agreement with the Arizona Game and Fish Department, for the purposes of preserving and 

enhancing riparian and wildlife areas as follows: 

 

a. A weekly hourly average of 200 gallons per minute (GPM) of effluent/reclaimed water; 

 

b. A minimum weekly hourly average of 100 GPM from Wildcat Hill Wastewater Treatment 

Facility into the Rio de Flag near Picture Canyon; 

 

c. A minimum weekly hourly average of 100 GPM from the Rio de Flag Wastewater Treatment 

Facility into the Rio de Flag near what is commonly known as “the I-40 wetlands;”  

 



RESOLUTION NO. 2025-51  PAGE 3 

d. A weekly hourly average of 50 GPM (of the 200 GPM commitment) into Frances Short Pond;  

 

e. The granting of public access adjacent to the release point of the effluent/reclaimed water at 

Wildcat Hill Wastewater Treatment Facility for a Watchable Wildlife open space park; 

 

f. The provision of an annual report of effluent/reclaimed water rates upon request of the 

Arizona Game and Fish Department; 

 

g. the responsibly to obtain permits including the Arizona Pollution Discharge Elimination 

System permit and meeting all monitoring requirements. 

 

h. the commitment that the City will not convey any ownership interest in the 200 GPM of 

effluent/reclaimed water on any basis. 

 

i. The willingness of the City to consider providing additional effluent/reclaimed water or 

reclaimed water release points/outfalls for the purposes of preserving and enhancing riparian 

and wildlife areas, to be designated subject to advanced water purification technological 

options, regulations, and availability. 

 

SECTION 2. Effective Date. 

 

This resolution shall be immediately effective upon adoption. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Flagstaff this 7th day of October, 2025. 
 

 

 

               

        MAYOR 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

  

CITY CLERK 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

  

CITY ATTORNEY 

 

 

Exhibits: 

Exhibit A – Bow and Arrow Park Agreement 
















































































	Agenda
	AI_9313_Proclamation
	       ATT_Proclamation
	AI_9312_Proclamation
	       ATT_Proclamation
	AI_9328_March Work Anniversaries
	       ATT_Presentation 
	AI_9329_City Manager Report
	       ATT_City Manager Report
	       ATT_PROSE Updates
	       ATT_EV Newsletter
	AI_9296_2024-2025 Annual Report for the 10-Year Housing Plan
	       ATT_2024-2025 Annual Report for the 10YHP
	       ATT_2024-2025 Annual Report for the 10YHP - Presentation
	AI_9318_JW Powell Project Update
	       ATT_Presentation 
	       ATT_Map
	       ATT_Vicinity Map
	AI_9323_Discussion of Amended Agreement regarding reclaimed water for Pine Canyon
	       ATT_Amendment 
	       ATT_PC Reclaimed Water Agreement
	       ATT_Map
	       ATT_PowerPoint
	AI_9333_Resolution 2025-xx to continue the release of reclaimed water into the Rio de Flag for the enhancement of wildlife habitat, consistent with the Bow and Arrow Park Agreement, subject to general availability and advanced water purification technologies.
	       ATT_Res. 2025-51
	       ATT_Agreement

